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Serving the public by regulating, enhancing and providing leadership in 
the practice of the profession of veterinary medicine in Alberta.

Contact Us

Alberta Veterinary Medical Association
950, Weber Centre, 5555 Calgary Trail NW

Edmonton, AB  T6H 5P9
Phone: (780) 489-5007

Toll-Free: 1-800-404-2862
Fax: (780) 484-8311

Website: www.abvma.ca



Canadian Veterinary Oath
As a member of the veterinary medical profession, I solemnly swear that I 

will use my scientific knowledge and skills for the benefit of society.

I will strive to promote animal health and welfare, relieve animal suffering, 
protect the health of the public and environment, and advance comparative 

medical knowledge.

I will practice my profession conscientiously, with dignity, and in keeping 
with the principals of veterinary medical ethics.

I will strive continuously to improve my professional knowledge and 
competence and to maintain the highest professional and ethical standards 

for myself and the profession.
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PRESIDENT’S REPORT

Dr. James Marshall - President

2013 was another very busy and full year for the Alberta 
Veterinary Medical Association (ABVMA). This report highlights 
some of the significant changes and ongoing projects we worked 
on or completed over the past year.

Animal Health Technologists (AHTs) have been members of the 
ABVMA since 2010. Council identified a need to amend the 
bylaws to enable AHTs to be more engaged in the governance of 
the association. Council assembled a Bylaw Task Force which spent 
a significant amount of work reviewing the bylaws and making 
the necessary changes which would allow an administratively 
fair and peer reviewed discipline process for AHTs. The Bylaw 

Task Force investigated how other professions (e.g. Pharmacists and Agrologists) have involved 
technologists in the governance of their College / Association. A draft of the proposed bylaws 
was presented to the membership for discussion at last year’s Annual General Meeting (AGM). 
All members were encouraged to review the draft and provide their input. A version of the 
proposed bylaws with amendments highlighted and comments inserted, explaining the proposed 
amendments, was provided to all members. Council considered all input from members at their 
April Council meeting. The final version of the proposed bylaws was approved by Council and 
distributed to members. The new bylaws were voted on by the membership and passed. Our 
new bylaws allow 3 elected, non-voting AHT members on Council. AHTs are now involved in 
both legislative and non-legislative committees. Registered AHTs are able to vote at an AGM, 
special meeting or mail in vote, with the exception of a vote on matters that would direct 
the Minister to amend the Veterinary Profession Act (VPA), change a regulation or bylaw, or 
approve a guideline that calls for the vote of the registered veterinarians.

The Association has a responsibility to protect society, regardless of who is providing veterinary 
services. The ABVMA continues to pursue the creation of a second category of technologists, 
namely veterinary paraprofessionals (eg. physiotherapists, chiropractors, animal rehabilitation 
therapists, etc.). Each class of paraprofessional should have defined educational requirements, 
program accreditation, credentials, registration requirements, level of supervision, membership 
and scope of practice. Ultimately the responsibility for the health care of the animal remains 
with the veterinarian. We continue working with the government and regulatory groups to make 
changes to the Regulations. A challenging issue within the current VPA.

One issue discussed and debated at last year’s Leadership Weekend was whether to continue 
using the non-legislated committees - structured as they currently exist versus a shift towards the 
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utilization of task forces made up of individuals selected from a pool of members. Ultimately, it 
was decided that both committees and task forces are needed. The non-legislated, Professional 
Enhancement Advisory Committees, are often the birth place of ideas. Bringing the committee 
members together at the Annual Leadership Weekend to deliberate over current issues affecting 
the practice of veterinary medicine in Alberta, strengthens our association. These committees 
give valuable feedback and direction to Council on how to proceed on many items. Task forces 
are still utilized to tackle many of the veterinary issues which overlap multiple committees. 
In these situations the Professional Enhancement Committees act as a pool of professionals 
from which to select individuals for such task forces as required. Many of the non-legislated 
committee members eventually move to serve on the legislated committees. In 2013, a Terms of 
Reference for Professional Enhancement Committees was written to let these volunteers know 
what to expect, how the committees function, and how long they will be involved. 
In recent years there has been talk of improving access to veterinary care for those who cannot 
afford it. 2013 saw the launch of “Tails of Help”, a new charitable foundation, funded purely by 
donation money. Many volunteers donate their time and energy to drive this foundation which 
operates at an arms length from the ABVMA. This Charitable Foundation provides financial 
support for the very basic, essential veterinary medical treatment of companion animals in the 
care of Albertans with low income or qualified financial need. 2014 will be an important year 
in the growth and development of “Tails of Help”.
Two ABVMA priorities we continued to address in 2013 were:
 1. Communication, and
 2. Member Wellness

 1. Communication
    This year the ABVMA began the process of streamlining our social media platforms 

and redesigning / rebuilding our website. Online communities must be able to access 
our association internationally. It was a steep learning curve entering the world of 
Facebook, Twitter, Linkedin, You Tube, Pinterest, etc.; however, these tools are essential 
to our communication strategy. Many members already use these tools to communicate 
with each other. The association now uses social media to communicate more 
efficiently and effectively with our members, the public, government and industries.  
Our Professional Enhancement Advisory Committees have begun developing 
communication pieces tailored for social media. The ABVMA can now instantly broadcast 
many important animal health messages and alerts to both our members and the public. 
By marketing the veterinary profession better through social media, we can position 
Alberta veterinarians as authorities on many provincial, national and international 
issues and most importantly, directing the public back to their veterinarian.
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 2. Member Wellness
    The ABVMA Professional Wellness Program was developed to help members address 

personal mental health issues, relationship, or professional problems and stressors such 
as a discipline issue. The counseling services provided can address a wide variety of 
problems including: addictions / substance abuse (alcoholism, chemical dependency, 
psychological dependency or illness), psychological support for members in the discipline 
process, depression / suicide prevention, couple / family issues, anger management, 
critical incident debriefing, relaxation training, anxiety / phobias, stress management, 
self esteem and other professional and emotional concerns. These challenges affect 
Veterinarians and AHTs across North America and around the world.

In 2013, the ABVMA contracted an experienced researcher, Professor of Sociology, Department 
of Medicine, from the University of Calgary to create an anonymous and voluntary survey about 
member wellness. The survey of our membership, both Veterinarians and AHTs, identified some 
of the biggest stressors in our professional and personal lives. Council hopes the information 
gathered will educate our members about wellness and help the ABVMA develop additional 
wellness resources for our members.

The ABVMA continues to advocate that veterinarians are animal welfare experts. We must 
increase the visibility of veterinarians as spokespeople for issues of animal welfare. The ABVMA 
encourages veterinarians considering career opportunities in animal welfare as the association 
continues to be involved in policy development. The ABVMA feels it is important to continue our 
alliance with Alberta Farm Animal Care (AFAC) and increase awareness through social media. 
Council supports the Alberta Spay / Neuter Task Force (ASNTF) and continues to foster good 
relations with the Alberta Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals (ASPCA).

Responsible drug use in animals goes hand in hand with appropriate prescribing and dispensing. 
Council recognizes that pharmaceutical sales are an important part of veterinary practice in 
Alberta. Veterinarians must take their responsibility to properly prescribe and dispense seriously 
in order to protect this privilege. The ABVMA continues to encourage responsible use of antibiotics 
/antimicrobial stewardship and responsible distribution of pharmaceuticals by manufacturers 
and distributors. The ABVMA continues to inform, advise and train members regarding the 
Council Guidelines on Prescribing, Dispensing, Compounding and Selling Pharmaceuticals and 
the CVMA Compounding Guidelines. Annual discussion around responsible drug use continues 
with all other Provincial Associations and the CVMA.

During the discipline process a common finding is inadequate or insufficient medical records. 
To help address the issue, the ABVMA published a Medical Records Handbook which was 
distributed to all practices. This tool should assist both Veterinarians and AHTs in their respective 
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workplaces, improve the quality of their medical record keeping and avoid some of the pitfalls 
of the complaints process. Ultimately, better quality medical records will mean better quality 
veterinary medical services in Alberta. This project may develop into a medical records 
course which could be taken by ABVMA members when necessary and potentially be open to 
veterinarians and AHTs from other provinces and states.

The current ABVMA office lease space (9th floor, Weber Centre, Edmonton) is up for renewal 
in 2014. In 2013, Council and Staff were busy exploring all our options carefully. At this time 
it appears the ABVMA will be moving to a new office location several blocks away. Details will 
be released, once the final decisions have been made.

Dr. Duane Landals announced his retirement this year, after 13 years as Registrar / CEO / 
Secretary Treasurer of the ABVMA. In June a celebration of Dr. Landals’ many accomplishments 
during his tenure was held at the Selkirk Hotel, Fort Edmonton Park. Dr. Landals continues to 
work for the ABVMA on a part-time contract basis, helping tackle some of the ongoing projects 
of the association such as revision of the Practice Inspection Practice Standards (PIPS) Bylaws, 
amendment of the PIPS section of the General Regulations and other legislative items on which 
his experience is invaluable.

After conducting an open search and interviews, the ABVMA hired Dr. Darrell Dalton as our 
new Registrar / CEO / Secretary Treasurer. Dr. Dalton has been a member of the ABVMA 
and CVMA for over 33 years. He has a great knowledge and understanding of the veterinary 
profession and is committed to the ABVMA, the Veterinary Profession and the Public of Alberta. 
Your Council has great confidence in Dr. Dalton’s experience and ability to lead us through the 
coming years.

It was another successful year for the CanWest Veterinary Conference in Banff. Good quality 
continuing education translates directly into better quality veterinary medicine delivered to the 
public. Thank you to all the veterinarians, AHTs and clinic staff who attended. Planning has 
already begun for 2014 which will hopefully be even bigger and better than ever, with world 
class speakers and tracks for every member of your animal health care team.

Another full year and an exciting time to be practicing our profession in the province of Alberta.
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Dr. Darrell Dalton – Registrar / Secretary Treasurer

Our fiscal year began with the announcement by Dr. Duane 
Landals that he wished to step down as Registrar of the 
Alberta Veterinary Medical Association. After thirteen years 
as Registrar, the Council of the ABVMA was faced with a task 
that they had not encountered for some time. There was not 
a documented procedure describing the necessary process 
to follow to replace the Registrar, and one needed to be 
developed by Council. A strategy was developed, the position 
was advertised, interviews were conducted, and in the end, 
I was hired as the new Registrar. Seemingly a long process, 
but one that progressed forward the entire time. Dr. Landals 

remained on staff of the ABVMA as a senior consultant until October 31, 2013 and will 
continue on a part-time basis throughout 2014. 

The staff of the ABVMA remained consistent in 2013. Welcome back to Chris Grayson on 
her return from maternity leave. The staff is working well in achieving our daily and monthly 
tasks, but is close to exceeding the capacity to do this. 2014 may see us increase our staff 
by a minimum of one position. 

In March, 2013, dual ‘crashes’ of the ABVMA server occurred. We were able to retrieve 
all of our data, but lost full confidence in the server at that point, and a replacement was 
investigated. F12 Networks has been providing the ABVMA’s IT service for the past two 
years, and they were consulted regarding the best solution. We had previously been 
discussing with F12 a complete upgrade for all the computer systems, but could not identify 
when would be the appropriate time. The crashed server provided us with the clarity that 
‘now’ was the time. The ABVMA upgraded all of the hardware, and has migrated to the 
Office 365 business platform. In addition, all of our information is now stored in a ‘cloud’ 
system managed by F12 Networks, with a triple backup protocol. We are on a monthly 
lease contract with F12 that allows us to maintain our computer technology current without 
large future capital expense. 

The ABVMA photocopier was also reaching its useful lifespan (2 million copies), and an 
‘end of life’ decision was made to replace it. The machine no longer had readily available 
replacement parts, and breakdowns were beginning to become a problem. A lightly used 
Cannon copier was available that had a higher capacity and lifespan than the one it would 

REGISTRAR’S REPORT
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replace, at roughly the same cost. It was decided to lease this equipment as well, and avoid 
a large capital outlay. The copier has been working well for us this year. 

According to the Veterinary Profession Act (VPA), it is Council’s responsibility to establish 
the location of the ABVMA office. The ABVMA’s lease at the Weber Centre concludes July 
31, 2014, and Council implemented their due diligence to ensure that the office is in the 
best location. Council’s first decision was whether to look at a location to purchase, or to 
continue to lease. The decision was overwhelmingly to continue to lease. The next decision 
was to establish whether the office was in the best location, or if a better one is available? 
A commercial real estate broker, CBRE Canada, was engaged to locate suitable locations, 
and compare them to our current one. After much searching and deliberation, Council 
decided to relocate the ABVMA office to Elm Business Park on 51st Avenue in Edmonton. 
The property interior was undeveloped, and will be completed to meet the ABVMA’s specific 
needs. The new building has improved parking and access for members attending the office, 
and will hopefully have improved heating and cooling. All technology wiring will obviously 
be upgraded, and will serve us well in the future. Reduced operating costs compared to our 
current location was an additional selling feature. Council agreed to a ten year lease with 
the landlord, with an option to renew for five years.

The Leadership Weekend continues to be another great success for the ABVMA. 2013 saw 
a change in the individual meeting format utilized at previous weekends. Instead, all the 
Professional Enhancement Committees met together to discuss the future of their committee 
structure. After much dialogue, it was decided that the current structure only required minor 
changes, and not a major revision. The committee names were updated to reflect their 
function as advisory committees, and terms of reference were discussed for all. This resulted 
in a new document “ABVMA Professional Enhancement Leadership Team and Advisory 
Committee Terms of Reference” from Council to guide committees in the future. It outlines 
duties, structure, member replacement, and operations for the committees. One of the other 
exciting additions was the incorporation of each committee chairperson at the Council 
Strategic Planning session held each April. This proved hugely valuable in providing input 
to Council. 

The Annual General Meeting held on February 10, 2013 at the conclusion of the Leadership 
Weekend was an uncontentious affair. There was lively discussion regarding the proposed 
Bylaw amendments, and useful suggestions were made that allowed the membership not 
in attendance to be able to vote on the changes in an informed manner at a later date. 
The Bylaw included many new or modernized definitions, as well as updated Vision and 
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Mission Statements. In addition, there were many revisions to membership descriptions 
and categories. The Bylaw amendments also outlined the incorporation of AHTs into the 
governance of the association as well as the development of a discipline process for them. 
The meeting concluded with many members expressing their gratitude and appreciation to 
Dr. Landals for his dedication and contributions to the profession and Association over the 
past three plus decades. 

A mail in vote was held concerning the Bylaw amendments later in the spring. The Bylaws 
were passed by a strong majority of the veterinary members, and are now in effect. The 
current Bylaws may be found on the ABMVA website.

One of the more rewarding relationships that the ABVMA has participated in has been our 
involvement in the University of Alberta Animal Science/ Animal Health Capstone Projects. 
During the spring semester of 2013, ABVMA staff participated as mentors to two groups 
of fourth year students. The first group was investigating the current state of knowledge 
that horse owners had regarding equine infectious anemia, and the students conducted a 
survey that was facilitated by the ABVMA. This project was timely as the Canadian Food 
Inspection Agency (CFIA) has been contemplating dropping their involvement in the EIA 
testing program. The project raised the awareness for this important equine disease, and 
hopefully has had a positive effect for the equine industry.

The second group of students surveyed a number of small animal clinics throughout Alberta 
in an attempt to identify the frequency with which clinics are faced with owners that cannot 
afford treatment for their pets, and must therefore opt for surrender or euthanasia. The 
results were intriguing, and certainly support the need for programs such as the newly 
formed Tails of Help Foundation. 

The fall semester for the Capstone Project involved a group of students investigating the 
Animal Control Bylaws utilized by the municipalities of Alberta. They were able to identify 
345 municipalities throughout the province, with animal control legislation ranging from no 
bylaw, to those with a progressive and well developed bylaw. It is no wonder that a frequent 
call from veterinarians to the ABVMA office involves their responsibilities and obligations 
when dealing with lost or abandoned animals, and who is responsible for determining 
the fate of these animals. It is hoped that as a result of this study, the province will become 
interested and involved in this huge disparity in local legislation, and develop a consistent 
and minimum standard for all municipalities. It would certainly make this issue easier for 
veterinary clinics.
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The ABVMA continues to be a strong supporter of the CVMA, and attended the business 
meetings held in Victoria in 2013 at the annual convention. Two major issues discussed 
at these meetings were licensure of CFIA veterinarians, and a potential collaboration of 
veterinary regulatory bodies in Canada with CVMA. Discussions regarding the issue of 
CFIA licensure are moving forward. The Terrestrial Animal Health (TAH) Code of the World 
Organization for Animal Health (OIE) identifies a veterinarian as a “person registered 
or licensed by the relevant veterinary statutory body of a country to practice veterinary 
medicine/science in that country”. The TAH Code further defines Veterinary Services as 
the “governmental and non-governmental organizations that implement animal health and 
welfare measures and other standards and recommendations in the Terrestrial Code in the 
territory”. Individuals engaged by the CFIA as veterinarians participate in the practice of 
veterinary medicine, and only individuals registered as veterinarians in a province may hold 
out to the public that they are entitled to engage in the practice of veterinary medicine. The 
objective of compulsory registration of CFIA veterinarians in all provinces is the protection 
of the public interest in the delivery of veterinary services. The veterinary ‘regulatory bodies’ 
goal is to have a uniform membership category that is portable from province to province, 
with all CFIA veterinarians registered within their province of residence.

The second major issue at the CVMA meetings involved discussions regarding the formation 
of a group of the provincial veterinary regulators in collaboration with CVMA. Currently, 
membership in CVMA is required in only seven of the ten provinces. This results in a large 
portion of the veterinary profession unrepresented at CVMA, which also means that these 
individuals are not involved in the development of professional policy statements, or have 
representation at the national or international level. This is unacceptable. There is also the 
perception that some provinces, by not having full membership in the CVMA, are not fully 
contributing financially for all of the benefits that they receive from the CVMA, such as use of 
the National Examining Board. This was discussed at length in Victoria, and a proposal was 
drafted for consideration at a second meeting. It was decided at a meeting of the provincial 
registrars held in November that the ten provinces would propose to their Councils the 
formation of a Council of Veterinary Registrars to deal with regulatory matters common 
to all provinces. It also would serve to provide a venue for all ten provinces to have input 
through the CVMA, with representation of 100% of the veterinarians in Canada without 
having mandatory membership. Stay tuned for further developments.

The ABVMA continues to fulfill its responsibility to provide top quality Continuing Education 
for its members. The annual CanWest Veterinary Conference was a success again this 
year, with the addition to the program of three additional learning tracks, as well as early 
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morning table talks. Attendance was increased over last year’s numbers, and everyone 
seemed to have a great experience. 

The association also partnered with Alberta Farm Animal Care (AFAC) for the delivery of 
the successful Livestock Care Conference (LCC) in Calgary, featuring farm animal welfare 
issues facing the animal agriculture industry. The ABVMA holds an active position on the 
AFAC board of directors, and is frequently consulted by the board as leaders in animal 
welfare.

The past year also had its ‘moments to ponder’. We will all remember receiving an e-mail 
titled “Advisory”. This e-mail was intended to inform us that the ABVMA and its members 
were being sued by an individual that most of us had never had contact with. Legal counsel 
of the ABVMA put forth a motion in court to have the statement of claim struck, and was 
successful on the basis of all four reasons that the claim potentially could have been struck. 

Council of the ABVMA once again took part in the annual Council Road Trip. Councilors 
and staff climbed aboard a touring bus at 6:30 am on a Wednesday in June, and set off 
on an outreach pilgrimage that has become an annual tradition. This year’s tour visited 
clinics in the north eastern portion of the province. The first day included tours of clinics 
from Sherwood Park to Lloydminster, and then north to St. Paul, where a late night Council 
meeting was held at the Super 8 Motel. The next day began with breakfast at 6:30 am 
followed by departure for and tours in Bonnyville and Cold Lake. The final destination 
was Fort McMurray where we visited all of the clinics there. That evening, Council held a 
regional meeting and social event for the members. It is a great benefit for Council to visit 
these more distant clinics and discuss and learn what their unique issues are. The final day 
of the trip began with a later start, and a pleasant drive to Boyle for a clinic visit, wrapped 
up with our final stop at the Hotel Selkirk at Fort Edmonton Park. There, the association held 
a formal retirement party for Dr. Landals, with many members in attendance to express their 
well wishes to Duane.

Communication remains a major concern for the ABVMA. We are constantly looking for 
new methods to improve the communication with our members. Midge Landals will provide 
a more comprehensive report on this topic, but I would like to highlight one of the more 
exciting features. For the past two years, the ABVMA has delved into the area of social media. 
Facebook has become the most exciting and effective in our ability to reach members, the 
public, and the ability to have a message disseminated. Our message concerning ticks and 
Lyme disease had a reached over 144,000 people, and the post regarding Pigeon Fever 
reached over 85,000. When there have been positive rabies cases within the province, we 
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are able to inform veterinary professionals as well as members of the public. People are 
interested in what we have to say, and are listening and sharing. Facebook appears to be 
a powerful tool, and we hope to continue to expand this in the future.

The veterinary profession in Alberta continues to show strong growth as evidenced through 
the numbers of veterinarians and animal health technologists that are registered. By our 
fiscal year end of October 31, 2013, we had 1,385 Active General Veterinarians and 
1,338 Animal Health Technologist registered with the ABVMA. Including all membership 
categories, we have a total of 3,185 members. This compares to a total of 3,037 members 
at this time last year, or a healthy 5 percent increase in total membership.

I am honoured that Council has chosen me as the new Registrar. I have stepped into some 
very large shoes, and intend on making sure that I do not disappoint Council or the members.

 
 

Darrell Dalton, DVM
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COMPLAINTS DIRECTOR REPORT

Dr. Phil Buote – Complaints Director

The Alberta Veterinary Medical Association (ABVMA) is the 
professional regulatory organization responsible for regulating 
the practice of veterinary medicine in the province of Alberta. 
This authority is granted under the Veterinary Profession Act 
(VPA) of Alberta.

The ABVMA is responsible for verification of credentials, annual 
registration and collection of annual dues, ongoing continuing 
education of members, practice inspection, and the receipt of 
complaints from members of the public. 

The ABVMA will act on letters of complaint received according to 
the Professional Conduct regime outlined in Part 5 of the VPA. 

Informal Complaints
The Complaints Director receives numerous phone calls and other inquiries regarding 
veterinarians, animal health technologists, and the practice of veterinary medicine. Many of 
these informal contacts are regarding fees or communication. These latter issues are best resolved 
through an informal resolution process that typically relies upon effective communication between 
the complainant and the veterinarian. The Complaints Director may facilitate communication 
between the parties. The process to resolve informal complaints is not legislated, no record of 
these calls is maintained and the results are not reported.

Formal Complaints
In the calendar year 2013, and as of this writing, there were twenty-nine formal letters of 
complaint received, which generated thirty-nine complaint cases. Several of the letters received 
were against more than one veterinarian or against one or more veterinarians and a permit 
holder. A complaint against each veterinarian or permit holder is considered independently. 

Investigation 
Typically, the action taken by the Complaints Director upon receipt of a letter of complaint 
is to appoint an investigator to conduct an investigation pursuant to section 28 (2)(e) of the 
Act. The ABVMA maintains a pool of investigators, the majority of whom are veterinarians. 
These investigators have received specific training about their obligations, including conducting 
interviews and writing reports. A non-veterinarian investigator may be appointed in cases 
where the circumstances of the case require a specific or unique skill set.

The VPA grants broad powers to the appointed investigators. The investigator may talk to 
anyone about the matter, may enter premises, and may collect items such as medical records. 
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The investigator may ultimately request a court order to compel individuals to be interviewed or 
produce documents if there is non-compliance with an investigator’s request.

The investigator writes an investigator’s report of the investigation and the information that 
was collected during the course of the investigation. The investigator’s report is submitted to the 
Complaint Review Committee (CRC). 

Of the thirty-nine complaint cases generated in 2013, an investigator was 
appointed in thirty-eight of them.

Complaint Review Committee (CRC)
The CRC is composed of six registered veterinarians, two registered animal health technologists, 
and two members of the public appointed by the Minister. All members of the CRC are voting 
members.

The CRC receives and considers an investigator’s report for each case that is investigated. The 
CRC first decides if the investigator’s report is complete and if there is sufficient information to 
proceed. The members of the CRC make a preliminary threshold (gatekeeper) decision based 
on a review of the information in the investigator’s report. The CRC has the authority to:

 • refer the matter for additional investigation,
 • dismiss the complaint, if in the opinion of the Complaint Review Committee
  - the complaint is trivial or vexatious, or
  - there is insufficient or no evidence of unprofessional conduct, or
 • refer the case to the Hearings Director for a hearing.

Meetings of the CRC are normally held in the early morning by teleconference. The CRC also 
had two in-person meetings at the ABVMA office to discuss several complex cases with lengthy 
investigator reports. The CRC is the busiest of the legislated committees with respect to time 
commitment and in undertaking the challenging task of reviewing complaints against their 
peers.

  In 2013 the CRC reviewed the investigator’s reports of thirty-eight 
complaint cases, twelve of which were received in 2012 and twenty-six 
of which were received in 2013. 

  Of the thirty-four cases reviewed, the CRC made a decision to dismiss in 
nineteen of them. A decision has not been made in four cases.

  This number of cases required that the CRC meet seventeen times in 2013. 
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Written Decision with Reasons
Pursuant to section 28 (5)(a) of the Act, the CRC is required to provide “written notification, 
with reasons of the decision” made by the CRC in cases where a decision to dismiss is made. 
The ABVMA has provided training and resources to CRC members regarding writing reasons. 
The members of the CRC are veterinarians and animal health technologists who volunteer their 
time to serve on the CRC. The obligation to write reasons is a challenging and onerous one and 
these reasons can often face legal scrutiny. The members of the CRC, describe the information 
upon which the committee based its decision, explain how and why the committee reached the 
decision to dismiss, and cite the specific legislation provisions.

Section 34.1 of the VPA provides that a complainant has the right to apply for a review of a 
CRC decision to dismiss. The complainant is notified of this right in the decision letter from the 
CRC.

Committee of Council (COC) Review
The Act provides that the Council of the ABVMA is the review and appeal body for the complaints 
process. When a complainant applies for a review, the Hearings Director appoints a Committee 
of Council (COC). The COC is normally composed of three veterinarian members of Council 
and one public member of Council. The COC process for review is described in section 34.1 
of the Act. 

The request for the review document is provided to the investigated member, who is required to 
provide a response. The complainant and investigated member are both given the opportunity 
to make submissions to the COC, which according to the Act, may be written, oral or both. 
These submissions are normally exchanged and in the case of oral submissions are typically 
made in the presence of the other party.

It is important to recognize that a COC review of a decision to dismiss is not a hearing of 
evidence. The decision of the COC is a preliminary, threshold decision, with the same potential 
outcomes as the CRC decision. The COC may refer the matter for additional investigation, refer 
the matter to the Hearings Director for a hearing or confirm that the complaint is dismissed.

  In 2013, there were five applications for COC review of CRC’s decision to 
dismiss. In comparison, in 2012 there were no applications received; in 
2011 there were six, and in 2012 there were two.

As of this writing, three decisions of the COC have confirmed the CRC decisions dismiss.

Hearing
If the CRC, or COC upon review, is of the opinion that there is information in the investigator’s 
report that, if proven to be true at a hearing might reasonably lead to a finding of unprofessional 
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conduct, then the matter may be referred to the Hearings Director for a hearing.

Upon referral for a hearing, the process becomes adversarial. It is the responsibility of the 
ABVMA and legal counsel to advance the specific allegations of unprofessional conduct. The 
member is entitled to know, in advance of the hearing, the specific concerns of the ABVMA, 
to obtain the investigator’s report and be represented by counsel. At the hearing, the ABVMA 
presents evidence and calls witnesses to provide sworn testimony in an effort to prove the 
allegations of unprofessional conduct. The investigated member is entitled to defend against 
these allegations. The process is conducted before a Hearing Tribunal, which is the panel of 
peers. The Hearing Tribunal is composed of three veterinarians and one member of the public. 
In the case of a hearing involving a registered animal health technologist, the hearing tribunal 
will include two registered animal health technologists.

It is the responsibility of the Hearing Tribunal members to receive evidence, listen to sworn 
testimony, ask questions and ultimately make a decision on each of the allegations of 
unprofessional conduct. The decision typically results in a finding of unprofessional conduct or 
no finding of unprofessional conduct on each of the allegations.

  Of the thirty-eight cases reviewed by the CRC in 2013, fifteen cases were 
referred to the Hearings Director for a hearing.

  Five hearings were held in 2013. These were all cases that originated in 
2012. In four cases, the Hearing Tribunal made a finding of unprofessional 
conduct, and in one case made no finding of unprofessional conduct.

Consent Discussions
Section 35.1 of the Act provides that an investigated member may submit a written admission 
of unprofessional conduct to the Hearings Director at any time prior to a decision by a Hearing 
Tribunal. A process has been established wherein every investigated member, who is willing 
to accept responsibility for their conduct, may enter into a discussion with a group of their 
peers. This discussion is held on a without prejudice basis with the intent to arrive at agreed 
finding(s) of unprofessional conduct and agreed sanctions. The Complaints Director is engaged 
in these discussions to ensure the objectives of the process and sanctioning are met. The findings 
and sanctions are articulated in a Consent Order, which must be presented to the Hearing 
Tribunal for their acceptance. The process of consent discussion and Consent Order provides 
a reasonable approach for those members willing to accept responsibility without the need for 
full hearing with witnesses. This can considerably reduce the cost and stress associated with the 
professional regulatory process.

  In three of the five hearings held in 2013, the investigated member 
entered into consent discussions that resulted in a consent order that was 
accepted by the Hearing Tribunal.
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Appeals
The Act provides that Council is the appeal body for the hearing process. An investigated 
member or the Complaints Director may appeal a finding or order of the Hearing Tribunal to 
Council. 

  There was one appeal of the findings and orders of the Hearing Tribunal 
made to Council in 2013. Council has not provided their decision as of this 
writing.

Cases Resolved
Section 28 (2)(b) provide that the Complaints Director may attempt to resolve a complaint with 
the consent of the complainant and the investigated member. This provision in the Act allows for 
the resolution of concerns that would normally be considered informal complaints, but for the 
first contact is a formal letter of complaint and not a phone call. 

In many of these cases, once the Complaints Director informs the complainant of the formal 
process of investigation and committee review, and the potential outcomes of the process, the 
complainant is reluctant to proceed with the formal process. 

Section 28 (2)(b) only allows resolution of matters if both the complainant and the investigated 
agree to participate. This resolution method relies on effective communication between the 
parties. The Complaints Director must be satisfied that the resolution is in keeping with protection 
of the public interest.

  Of the thirty-nine complaint cases generated in 2013, one resolved 
pursuant to section 28(2)(b).

Cost of the Discipline Process
There appears to be an increase in the number of complaint cases in 2013.

  Year  # Complaint Cases

  2013   39

  2012   24

  2011   24

  2010   25

  2009   30
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This may be a normal variation in the number of complaints received or may represent a trend 
of an increasing number of complaints, which is being seen by other professional regulatory 
bodies. There may be several contributing factors. The public is better informed about their 
rights under professional regulatory legislation; the public is requiring and receiving, a higher 
level of veterinary care with associated costs and therefore may be more inclined to complain; 
and there are more veterinarians and therefore logically more complaints to deal with.

The increasing number of complaints, along with increasing complexity of cases which require 
investigation, contribute to increased regulatory costs. The cost of the professional regulatory 
process is borne by the regulatory body and is necessary to protect the privilege of self-regulation. 

Ombudsman
The Act provides that “Any person may make a complaint with respect to anything under 
this Act in accordance with the Ombudsman Act”. The ABVMA has worked co-operatively to 
resolve complaints to the Ombudsman. A second complaint submitted to the Ombudsman in 
February of 2012 from the same complainant that originally complained to the Ombudsman in 
March of 2009 has been resolved. 

There remain two outstanding complaints to the Ombudsman. The ABVMA is committed to the 
administration of a professional conduct process that adheres to the provisions of the Veterinary 
Profession Act and upholds the principles of administrative fairness. The ABVMA continues to 
work with the office of the Ombudsman to resolve these matters and will continually evolve and 
improve the process where necessary.
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profession is essential for the successful administration of the disciplinary process.

I would also like to acknowledge and thank Ms. Karen Smith of Parlee McLaws for her guidance 
and support during the past year.

Thank you to Dr. Darrell Dalton who has proficiently managed the transition to the position of 
Registrar. I look forward to working with Dr. Dalton for the enhancement of the profession of 
veterinary medicine and protection of the public interest in Alberta.
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Mr. Alvin Kumlin and Mr. Brian Travers

You would think as we complete our final year of a three year term 
as Public Members, we would be seasoned enough to say we have 
“been there, done that”. This couldn’t be further from the truth as 
we try to stay current with the fast moving world of the ABVMA. For 
Council and staff, this has been one of the busiest years since we 
began our term and it appears as though this trend will continue into 
2014. The membership of the ABVMA is fortunate to have dedicated 
members willing to commit time from their practices to serve on 
Council and the many committees that serve your association.

We are pleased to welcome Dr. Darrell Dalton as our new Registrar. 
All of Council shared in the emotion as colleague, friend and 
mentor, Dr. Duane Landals announced his retirement. We all know 
that Duane and retirement really don’t belong in the same sentence, 
so we will see Dr. Landals continuing his passionate service to the 
veterinary community in other capacities. Because we have an 
opportunity to work with the entire ABVMA staff, we have come to 
appreciate their dedication to the profession of Veterinary Medicine. 
Thanks to all of them for their patience and loyalty.

For the year 2013, the prominent event which moved quickly for 
Council was the completion of the Euthanasia Project, Medical 
Records Handbook, and the introduction of the Member Wellness 
Survey. The members section of the ABVMA website has been the 
focus of constant change. We encourage members to visit and 
browse the website to experience the services offered and know 
that many more positive changes are coming. The annual Outreach 
Road Trip was once again successful and those who were unable to 

attend, wished they had as their plans were trumped by the June floods of 2013. As with the past 
two years, our visit with the Alberta students at WCVM and UCVM were positive and each year’s 
undergraduates and graduates refresh our optimism about the field of Veterinary Medicine.

Each year’s President brings new enthusiasm. Our President for 2013, Dr. James Marshall, was no 
exception. We wish to thank him for his dedication and wish him well. We look forward to meeting 
as many of you as possible at this year’s Leadership Weekend and Annual General Meeting in 
Edmonton.

PUBLIC MEMBER’S REPORT
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Mrs. Midge Landals – Manager, Communications and 
Professional Enhancement

Leadership Weekend
The Leadership Weekend held on February 8 – 10, 2013 at the 
Carriage House Inn in Calgary was well attended by over 200 
participants. Two hundred and twelve members and guests attended 
the Member Recognition Banquet and 123 attended the Annual 
General Meeting.
The theme for 2013 was “Balance - Professionals Helping 
Professionals” with the underlying goal of attaining and sustaining 
a healthier work/life balance. A variety of speakers were invited 
to present on the subject over the course of the weekend. ABVMA 
President Dr. Jen Willians facilitated an “Optimizing Member 
Input to Council” session and a “Council Strategic Priorities Forum”, the outcomes of which are 
communicated elsewhere in this document.

Website www.abvma.ca 
The ABVMA website is undergoing a complete renovation, including the public site, the member’s 
site, and the mobile site. The redesign encompasses enhancements for both the design and 
programming of the website and its components. Latest technology and design technique tools are 
being used to enable ABVMA staff to update the website with ease. Integrated social media options 
will allow posting to a variety of social media platforms from anywhere at any time. A customized 
Content Management System will provide a secure easy solution for ABVMA staff to make content 
changes throughout the sites. We anticipate our online presence will have a fresh new look and feel 
by February 2014. 

Social Media
After a successful first year of social media engagement, the ABVMA has grown several impactful 
social communities on all of the major social media platforms.
This year a strategy was developed to help source content and primary messaging themes through 
the ABVMA non-legislated committees. The social media communications strategy provides direct 
involvement with the Professional Enhancement Advisory Committees and allows for committee 
messaging to be incorporated into the social media channels. This initiative provides direct exposure 
to the public. It is also anticipated there will be benefit from an in-depth social feedback session. 
Individual committee meetings began in June and all non-legislated committees were engaged in 
the process by mid-November. Key messaging has been identified for the 2014 ABVMA Committee 
Guided Social Media Campaigns. Mr. Kelly Cromwell, Communications Consultant, Parcom Online 
will follow up with a presentation and next steps strategy at the 2014 Leadership Weekend in 
February.

COMMUNICATION MANAGER’S REPORT
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Alberta Pet Essential Treatment (ABPET) Foundation - Tails of Help Program
Tails of Help is a program that provides financial assistance to qualified owners of companion 
animals that require essential veterinary treatment who are otherwise unable to pay for treatment 
of their pet. The program is operated by the Alberta Pet Essential Treatment (ABPET) Foundation, 
a charitable organization established by the ABVMA Council and is operated at arms-length from 
the ABVMA.
The program is not supported by member fees. The program was launched in November 2013 and 
fundraising is underway. Veterinary clinics identifying eligible clients are able to apply for funding 
to provide essential treatment that may not otherwise be delivered without some form of financial 
assistance.
This is a significant initiative that is expected to raise the profile of veterinary medicine within the 
province, and shed a very positive light on the profession.

Animal Welfare Veterinary Emergency Response Team
In 2009, the ABVMA began a partnership with Alberta Farm Animal Care (AFAC) in the development 
of the Livestock Care Response Team (LCRT). The LCRT is a group of veterinarians available for 
consultation in animal welfare situations identified through the AFAC ALERT Line. Bi-annual training 
is provided and appropriate terms of reference have already been set for this group.
Through the experience gained with the LCRT veterinarians, it became apparent that there was 
a need for a broader based higher level of services than was currently achievable. As such the 
ABVMA has initiated the formation of a new group: the Animal Welfare Veterinary Response Team 
(AWVERT). Alberta is fortunate to have a network of veterinary clinics across the province already 
servicing the needs of Alberta producers and animals. As a whole, these clinics are very well 
stocked and equipped. By redefining the terms of reference for the ALERT Line veterinarians, and by 
incorporating a wider number of veterinary health care professionals, the animals, the public, and 
veterinary practices in Alberta will benefit.
Any livestock animal welfare situation that occurs within the province could be aided by this group, 
including situations where livestock euthanasia is involved, effectively linking this initiative to the 
ABVMA Euthanasia Project. Training for this group took place in October in conjunction with the 
CanWest Veterinary Conference in Banff.

Alberta’s Flood Disaster – June 2013 
The people of Alberta and the veterinary community came together and assisted in every way 
possible in response to the devastation and displacement caused by flooding in southern Alberta 
in June. Social media was used extensively by the Association and by many ABVMA members to 
post messages informing the public of clinics that have been affected, where to take displaced pets, 
where help is required, where to call for victim insurance assistance etc. One ABVMA Clinic posted a 
challenge to other veterinary clinics to get engaged with raising funds for the clean-up and rebuilding 
process at the Calgary Zoo. The rebuilding process is extensive and will take some time, however, as 
portrayed in a Travel Alberta You Tube video, “The strength and spirit of our people is inspirational”. 
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Alberta Alliance for the Safety of Animals and People (AASAP)
The ABVMA has partnered in the Alberta Alliance for the Safety of Animals and People (AASAP), 
along with the Alberta SPCA, Ministry of Human Services and several other organizations. One 
of the goals of AASAP is to offer temporary care for pets of domestic violence victims who enter 
emergency shelters to escape abusive situations. A survey has been conducted to determine how 
many veterinary clinics in Alberta would be willing to provide temporary housing (generally 3 
weeks or less) and vaccinations if required. AASAP is drafting protocols, agreements and release 
forms to protect all parties.

ABVMA Wellness Survey
The purpose of this on-line survey was to identify factors that have a positive and negative impact 
on ABVMA members’ wellness. The information collected remains anonymous and will help gauge 
member wellness, the factors related to member wellness, and how this varies across different work 
settings and groups. Members were asked to complete the survey as either a veterinarian or animal 
health technologist who is registered with the ABVMA. Participation was completely voluntary, 
anonymous and confidential. The first in a series of articles outlining the results was published in 
the November/December issue of the ABVMA Members’ Magazine. Dr. Jean Wallace, Professor 
of Sociology and Adjunct Professor, Department of Medicine, University of Calgary will make a 
presentation at the 2014 Leadership Weekend.

Medical Records Handbook
The ABVMA is pleased to announce the release of the ABVMA Medical Records Handbook. This 
undertaking is considered a professional enhancement activity, designed to assist members in the 
practice of veterinary medicine. A copy of the Medical Records Handbook was distributed to all 
ABVMA practices in 2013. Full color and print friendly versions are also available on the Members’ 
website under the Veterinary Resource Library. Members are encouraged to use the handbook in 
practice as a reference.

ABVMA History Book
“The Veterinary Profession in Alberta 1991 – 2010”, a project that began in June 2010, is finally 
being published in partnership with the Alberta Association of Animal Health Technologists. A 
number of hard copies will be made available in the New Year and it will also be available in digital 
format.

Council and Staff Regional Outreach Road Trip
The ABVMA Council and Staff hit the highway on Wednesday, June 19th at 6:30 a.m. en route to 
Northern Alberta, final destination – Fort McMurray. We visited 15 clinics over 3 days, conducted 
a Council meeting, and hosted an evening dinner and presentation attended by over 40 members 
and hospital staff in Fort McMurray. The distance travelled on this trip was 1,500 Km.

Classroom Agriculture Program (CAP) 
CAP is undergoing significant changes by becoming a fully independent Society. Program 
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registrations increased by 4,428 students this year, an increase of over 20% over last year, providing 
a captive audience of over 20,000 grade 4 students. Sixty-four new volunteer classroom presenters 
signed up, a new classroom DVD was produced, and a volunteer database has been created to 
help increase communication with our more than 200 active volunteers. Our long term strategic 
plan includes branding, increasing classroom registrations to 30,000 by 2015, and expanding 
agriculture education to reach a new audience. The CAP Steering committee is currently reviewing 
the Alberta Education curriculum guides for grade 6 - 12 to determine where the best fit would be. 

Livestock Care Conference
The ABVMA partnered once again with Alberta Farm Animal Care (AFAC) to host the 2013 Livestock 
Care Conference. The event took place on March 22nd in Calgary and the focus was innovation, 
‘social license’ and economics. The ABVMA sponsored a couple of students from the University 
of Alberta to attend the event under the newly introduced LCC “Sponsor a Student” program. 
This program provides the opportunity for interaction and networking between a post-secondary 
student and the sponsor organization. The students sit and interact with their sponsor throughout 
the day and they are required to submit a short essay regarding what engagement with the Alberta 
agriculture industry means to them. Sponsors are expected to mentor the student and engage them 
with industry throughout the conference. 

A Celebration of Dr. Duane Landals Accomplishments
Dr. Duane Landals has stepped down after 13 years of service as the ABVMA Registrar. The 
announcement at the ABVMA Annual General Meeting in February was a momentous and 
emotional occasion. On June 21st the ABVMA hosted a celebration of Dr. Landals accomplishments. 
At the event Duane was recognized for his dedication to the profession provincially, nationally and 
internationally. It was evident he’s considered a true visionary whose leadership and mentorship 
skills have inspired many in the veterinary profession.

New Registrar/CEO/Secretary Treasurer
The ABVMA welcomed Dr. Darrell Dalton as the new Registrar/CEO/Secretary Treasurer with 
an official announcement in the September 11th E-News. This was followed by a celebration and 
recognition by President Dr. James Marshall at the CanWest Conference Welcome Reception in 
October. 

CanWest Veterinary Conference
The 2013 CanWest Conference, “Take Your Knowledge to New Heights in the Canadian Rockies” 
took place at the Fairmont Banff Springs Hotel on October 19th to 22nd. Seven hundred and 
eighty seven registrants were welcomed to the conference this year. A very exciting program was 
offered with an additional full day Companion Animal track and two full days of lectures specifically 
designed for Animal Health Technologist. Early morning Equine and Food Animal Table Topic 
Discussion sessions were also introduced for the first time and they went over very well. CanWest 
Hockey was reintroduced in the form of a casual shinny game.
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Dr. Ross Foulston – Chair

The Practice Review Board (PRB) is responsible for the regulation and assessment of the practice of 
veterinary medicine of its registered members, through establishing and evaluating competency 
standards, and ensuring that each registered member meets or exceeds these standards, in 
order to obtain and maintain their license to practice. 

During the past year, our Committee utilized in house meetings and teleconferences to address 
concerns for member wellness and practice competency. A member’s practice license remains 
under suspension due to ongoing concerns for wellness and competency.

More recently, the PRB had a teleconference meeting to address a Member Non-Compliance 
issue for not remaining compliant with Continuing Education Hours. Keeping up to date with 
continuing education (in areas that are pertinent to your type of practice) is an important 
member responsibility.

The ABVMA will continue to be a well respected leader of our profession, thanks to the 
progressive and diligent efforts of its members and leaders. Our association must continue to 
set high professional standards and maintain evaluations of our members and their practices 
to ensure that a consistent and high standard of veterinary medicine is delivered. The ABVMA’s 
continued support for continuing education, professional wellness, member and practice audits, 
and promoting current and better communication avenues, will all be key components to 
accomplishing this goal.

Thank you to Dr. Dianna Smith and Dr. Jarrett Ferrier, the two members departing from the PRB 
this year.

PRACTICE REVIEW BOARD REPORT 2013

Mark your calendars for next year’s conference scheduled for October 25 – 28, 2014.

Additional Activities
“Communications and Professional Enhancement” covers a very wide range of Association activities, 
some of which have been presented in other reports in this publication. I encourage you to read all 
of them for further information.

Thank you to the entire leadership group, members at large and staff who have committed their 
time, energy and expertise to moving the Association forward with the many accomplishments of 

the last year.
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Dr. David Tencer - Chair

The ABVMA Registration Committee had three in-person meetings and one teleconference 
meeting in 2013. In addition there were two Registration Days held for new veterinarian and 
AHT members, one in Edmonton in June and another in Calgary in August. Among the items 
dealt with during our meetings were: the review and approval of all new member applicants 
(both veterinarian and AHT); consideration and updating of Licensure categories; methods to 
assess new member applicants from non-accredited programs; and a review of the content and 
structure of material presented at the Registration Days. It should be noted that due to ABVMA 
Bylaw changes in 2013 the sitting RAHT committee members are now voting members of the 
Registration Committee.

The format of our Registration Days gives new members an overview of the ABVMA and the 
resources available to them, as well as interactive sessions emphasizing regulations and the 
standards expected of them. Any veterinarian or AHT who is a new member in Alberta is 
required to attend a Registration Day. During 2013 the ABVMA was pleased to accept 119 
new member veterinarians and 135 new member AHTs. We welcome these new members to 
our Association and wish them well as they proceed in their careers. Looking forward to 2014 
the Registration Committee will continue to assess and update licensure requirements especially 
in light of the growing number of specialty programs that are evolving.

Dr. Colleen Pratt – Chair

The Practice Standards and Practice Inspection Committee had a busy year. The focus of the 
committee this year was to work on updating the PIPS bylaws. We formed a task force that has 
been reviewing the bylaws in detail for consideration at this year’s AGM. We appreciate the 
comments that members made on the proposed bylaw changes.

PIPS also spent a lot of time developing a policy for naming practices. Over time practice names 
have evolved to be much more diverse than the standard ABC Veterinary Clinic. We want to be 
fair and consistent when approving names. 

For next year we plan to keep working on the bylaws and continue to review practice audits. 
We welcomed two new auditors this year so you may see a new face at your next practice 
inspection.

PRACTICE INSPECTION PRACTICE STANDARDS  
COMMITTEE REPORT 2013

REGISTRATION COMMITTEE REPORT
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FOREIGN QUALIFICATION RECOGNITION PLAN FOR
ALBERTA VETERINARY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION

The following report is submitted as a requirement of the Government of Alberta under the 
Foreign Qualification Recognition (FQR) Plan.

Reporting Period: November 1, 2012 to October 31, 2013

Total Veterinarian Applications
 General Practice License 107
 Limited Supervised License 3
 Limited Unsupervised License 3
 Temporary License 6
 Total 119

Educational Background
 License Type Accredited Veterinary Program Non-Accredited Veterinary Program
 General 92 15
 Limited Supervised 0 3
 Limited Unsupervised 1 2
 Temporary 1 5

Licensure Overview
 •  General Licensure – able to engage in the full scope of veterinary practice without 

restriction. Possesses a Certificate of Qualification from the National Examining Board 
of the CVMA.

 •  Limited Supervised Licensure – non-accredited school graduate who has qualified to enter 
the National Examining Board process. May practice under the minimum of immediate 
supervision of a General Licensee, or as stipulated by the Registration Committee.

 •  Temporary Licensure – typically a non-accredited school graduate who has completed 
the North American Veterinary Licensing Exam (NAVLE), and is eligible to sit on the 
Clinical Proficiency Exam (CPE). May practice under direct supervision of a General 
Licensee, or as stipulated by the Registration Committee.

 •  Limited Unsupervised Licensure – recognized by Council as “Specialist” as per General 
Regulation, or having advanced credentials. Limited to his or her specialty and may 
practice only within their scope and duties of employment (eg. Academic, government).

The normal sequence for non-accredited program graduates is to progress from Limited 
Supervised License to Temporary License, and then to General License once all examinations 
are completed. 
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For individuals progressing from Temporary License to General License during this reporting 
period, the average time required was 14 months (based on licensure time only, range 3 months 
to 33 months, from first receipt of a Temporary License to receipt of a General License). During 
this reporting period 16 members moved from Temporary Licensure to General Licensure. 

From the above 16 Temporary Licensees, 3 were previously Limited Supervised Licensees 
(average 12 months, range 6 – 24 months). 

During the reporting period, 1 Limited Supervised Licensee progressed to Temporary Licensure 
in approximately 3 months.

Not withstanding the time for progression of licensure, all of these individuals were eligible for 
employment as a veterinarian at all times.

Please note that the above calculations are based on the time the license was granted, and 
therefore may not truly represent the time it takes the individual to complete the exam sequence.

Disposition of Foreign Qualified Applicants
 # New Applicants # Processed to # Meeting All # Not Meeting All
  Licensing Requirements for Requirements for
   General Licensure General Licensure
 120 119 107  9
   (plus 3 Ltd Unsup)

 •  There was 1 incomplete application received during the specified time period. This 
application is still pending as of October 31, 2013. The applicant has not submitted all 
required documents.

 •  The 9 applicants who did not meet all licensing requirements were accommodated 
through an alternate licensing process (Limited Supervised or Temporary)

 •  No applications were held up because of language requirements as this standard is 
assessed by the National Examining Board before the application is received by the 
ABVMA.

 •  The ABVMA does not require work or clinical experience for licensure and the pass-fail 
statistics on licensing exams are maintained by the National Examining Board of the 
CVMA.

 •  Generally, once a fully completed application for registration is received by the ABVMA, 
it takes less than two weeks to process and receive approval into an appropriate license 
category.
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 •  The ABVMA has no ability to assess the time it takes from the arrival into Canada by 
the foreign trained veterinarian until they submit a fully completed application to the 
ABVMA.

Country of Origin for All Licensees
 Country  General Limited Limited Temporary
  License Supervised Unsupervised License
   License License
Australia 1   
Belgium   1 
British West Indies 4   
Croatia 1   
Egypt  1  3
Germany 1  1 
India 5 1  1 
Iran 1   1
Iraq 1   
Ireland 3   
Kenya 1   
Korea 1   
Netherlands   1 
New Zealand 1   
Pakistan 1   
Scotland 1   
Sri Lanka 1 1  
UK 1   
USA 12   
Canada 71   1
Total 107 3 3 6

Registered Animal Health Technologists

From November 1, 2012 to October 31, 2013 a total of 135 Animal Health Technologists 
applied and were granted registration with the ABVMA.

Out of the 135 AHTs, 83 were initially granted Provisional registration.

During the specified time period, 76 AHTs have successfully completed the VTNE and were 
transferred from Provisional to Active. 16 currently remain as Provisional AHTs.
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Current Membership Statistics as of October 31, 2013

Veterinarians

 Active General 1385
 Time Limited 87
 Limited Supervised 8
 Limited Unsupervised 18
 Non-Practicing 167
 Temporary 13
 Total 1678

Animal Health Technologists

 Active  1338
 Retired 8
 Provisional 21
 Non-Practicing 140
 Total 1507

Dr. Kirsten Aarbo - Chair

The Animal Welfare Committee had another active year in 2013. The primary goal of the 
committee is promotion of animal welfare as an area where veterinarians hold particular 
expertise. To reach that goal teleconferences were held in April and June, and an in person 
meeting held in October. Topics covered at these meetings included the review and discussion 
of the National Farm Animal Care (NFAC) codes of practice for beef cattle, equine, and swine. 
Committee members were encouraged to comment on the NFAC website during the revision 
period on the areas identified as animal welfare concerns.

Committee members also worked to develop a proposal for Council to develop the ABVMA 
social media campaign, and with that promote veterinarians as having expertise and interest 
in animal welfare. Target groups for this promotional campaign include student veterinarians, 
practicing veterinarians and the general public. This helped shape the ABVMA social media 
campaign development and implementation. Committee members also worked to prepare a list 
of animal welfare related topics as well as discuss potential audiences and controversies.

MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS REPORT

ANIMAL WELFARE ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT
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Dr Aarbo also represented the Animal Welfare Committee at the ABVMA Strategic Planning 
Session to help plan the future function and dynamics of the non-legislated committees. 
The Committee then took the resulting Terms of Reference document that emerged from this 
planning session and developed a list of suggestions for the ABVMA to help make the document 
more clear and workable. 

Next year the committee hopes to push forward on promotion of animal welfare issues via 
social media, continue on with review and commentary of the NFAC Codes of Practice, and 
look for more areas to advance the profession with regards for animal welfare. 

Dr. Leslie Ann Smith - Chair

This year started off with the uncertainty of whether committees were going to continue as 
is or break off into task groups. After discussion with all of the committee members at the 
last Leadership Weekend, committees were preserved and then the discussion turned into 
how to make the committees more effective and focused. The Committee Terms of Reference 
document was initiated and will shortly be implemented. This document helps define and direct 
the committees to be as effectual as possible. The chairs of the committees joined Council this 
year at the Strategic Planning & Committee Restructure Meeting in April and it was helpful in 
connecting the committees with Council directly.

Along with improving the committee structure, communication was a topic that was conversed 
about prominently. The committee is able to function without traditional face-to-face meetings 
by telephone conferences, emails and social media allowing the committee to effectively 
communicate more frequently and thus more successfully. 

The Companion Animal Committee was in discussion with PIPs earlier this year and gave input 
into the QA Guide. The committee also provided information to WestJet Air Angels, a non-profit 
organization that provides transportation of rescue and service animals, regarding contagious 
diseases and quarantine recommendations. Encouraging veterinarians to be active participants 
in social media by example is an ongoing endeavor. The members of the Companion Animal 
Advisory Committee strive to be involved by helping develop and endorse key social media 
messages for the public. 

As always, member feedback to the Companion Animal Committee is welcomed and encouraged. 

COMPANION ANIMAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT
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Dr. Juan A. Garcia - Chair

The Equine Committee has met on several occasions in 2013. Initially on February 8th during 
the ABVMA Committee Leadership Weekend in Calgary.

During this meeting I was elected Chair for the Equine Committee. It is possible that many of the 
members of the ABVMA do not know me so I’d like to introduce myself. My name is Juan A. 
Garcia and I am originally from Colombia, South America. I have lived in Canada for the past 
13 years and I live in Sylvan Lake, Alberta. I am married to Dr. Lilian Hidalgo, and we have 3 
children. I own Santa Fe Veterinary Services Inc, Santa Fe Equine Clinic Inc, and have share in 
Pathways Animal Clinic.

The Committee established that we must improve communication within Council and with other 
committees as well. We also need to establish areas of interest or concerns for the equine 
Veterinarian community such as: Dentistry, EIA etc. 

During a meeting held on April 17th of 2013 for the Restructure & Strategic Planning Committee 
one of the main topics was the importance of social media in the veterinary community. This was 
again discussed in September at our committee meeting in Edmonton and examples such as the 
“Pigeon Fever Outbreak” in south Alberta news published on the ABVMA facebook page were 
widely recognized by the public as well as members of our association.

Topics discussed that should be presented on social media include: animal welfare, EIA, dentistry, 
biosecurity, colic, and topics of equine owner interest such as ulcers, herpes, body condition 
scoring, nutrition, pre-purchase exams etc.

A general consensus is that the Equine Committee believes veterinarians should be on the forms 
or be the primary individuals who are performing pregnancy diagnosis and ultrasound.

The committee brought forward to Council the names of new members for the Equine committee. 
The Equine Committee hopes that in 2014 it can work closer to all members of the ABVMA and 
that all members will approach us and share concerns and topics of interest so that we can all 
work together to benefit the Veterinary community, as your support is essential.

EQUINE ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT
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Dr. Egan Brockhoff - Chair

The ABVMA Food Animal Advisory Committee continued to work on issues important to the 
profession at large by providing feedback and direction to the Council of the ABVMA. This 
has been a significant year with respect to issues related to food animals. The continued and 
increased scrutiny being placed on animal agriculture imparts a societal responsibility to 
veterinarians to be part of the discussion. The ABVMA and food animal veterinarians will be 
called upon to provide ever increasing input to society on the many and diverse issues coming 
to the forefront in animal agriculture. Our ability to advocate and communicate to society about 
the positive roles we play is of greater and greater importance. 

The ABVMA has a number of member resources with respect to food animals that continue 
to be freely available to our membership. The euthanasia manual was released in 2012. 
This publication, titled “A Good Death” is an important tool and resource for your animal 
health team. The ABVMA has also purchased 25 CASH Special captive bolt stunner kits for 
our membership. These kits are located across Alberta for quick access in times of need. A 
series of biosecurity resources have been published and are available. These tools serve as 
powerful guidelines with respect to keeping disease out, managing disease, and minimizing the 
spread of disease. Finally, the ‘Alberta Platform for the Responsible Use of Medicine in Animals’ 
(APRUMA) document is available in print and online. There is a website dedicated to this 
document www.apruma.ca as well as a blog focusing on the responsible use of pharmaceuticals 
in food animals by the veterinary health team and animal agriculture. Veterinarians are critical 
in the discussion around antimicrobial stewardship and prudent use. Our continued leadership 
in this area provides significant value to all facets of society through our engagement and 
discussion. 

There continues to be a great deal of work surrounding medical records, the generation of a 
prescription based on that medical record and then the process of properly dispensing off of 
that prescription. The Council Guidelines on prescribing, dispensing and compounding are 
available to view or download at the ABVMA website. This document is an excellent resource 
for your veterinary health team as they carry out the practice of veterinary medicine. The 
role of the veterinarian in prescribing and dispensing is coming under increasing societal and 
regulatory scrutiny. Given this increased scrutiny it is important for us to continue to be leaders 
in demonstrating that the veterinary profession has a clear understanding of their role within 
society to ensure prescribing and dispensing are being carried out in a socially responsible and 
professional manner. The maintenance of normal medical records allows the veterinarian to 
carry out these activities. The food animal committee will continue to work on providing sound 
feedback to Council on these issues. 

FOOD ANIMAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT
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Last fall Council was asked if they would endorse a course on pregnancy detection by ultrasound 
for cattle through NAIT. This request led to a draft policy being developed and circulated for 
consideration. The Council of the ABVMA directed the staff of the ABVMA to develop a draft 
policy on Pregnancy Detection and Registered Animal Health Technicians with respect to using 
ultrasound on cattle. This policy underwent a number of draft revisions after being circulated 
to the Food Animal Committee, membership and back to Council. In July the ABVMA hosted 
a focus group in Calgary to further review the draft. Feedback continued to be mixed with no 
clear outcome coming to the forefront. Following the focus group meeting the comments on 
the draft were taken back to Council and after further discussion Council shelved the draft and 
directed the staff to work on a series of surveys and feedback options as a way to continue to 
explore this concept. A program on pregnancy detection by ultrasound was not offered at NAIT 
at the request of Council. 

Seeking input from the membership continues to be a strategic priority of the ABVMA Council. 
In an effort to improve access to discussions amongst committee members we have developed a 
Facebook discussion page dedicated to the food animal committee. This is a secure page that is 
only accessible to those members of the ABVMA that have been invited to be on the committee. 
This expansion in communication options will make communication easier with mobile devices 
and should facilitate greater exchange of ideas. I am excited to see how this tool can be used 
to expand the conversation. 

The ABVMA continues to support the Alberta Farm Animal Care Association through participation 
and sponsorship. Many of our members volunteer to sit on their Livestock Care Veterinary 
Program, providing a much needed and respected service to animal agriculture. This is an 
important program that is always looking for more veterinary participation. The AFAC Annual 
Conference will be hosted in Edmonton in 2014 from March 26th to 27th. 
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Dr. Amanda Emery - Chair

For our committee, 2013 has been a year of re-branding and re-focusing. We started out the 
year under our old title of the ABVMA Alternate Livestock and Wildlife Committee and ended 
it as the ABVMA Wildlife and Ecosystem Health Advisory Committee. It was agreed upon by 
members of both our group, and those of the Food Animal Committee, that Alternate Livestock 
concerns were better suited to the Food Animal experts, while we in the Wildlife group could 
expand our focus to include the health of our ecosystem and environment. 

Our committee has been relatively quiet for the past few years. I know that our group was 
not alone in feeling as though as much as we enjoyed the opportunity to interact with our 
colleagues and were keen to assist the ABVMA in any way that we could, we lacked a general 
sense of direction and purpose. Council recognized this, and therefore a significant portion of 
the Leadership Weekend in February 2013 saw the non-legislated committees meet together 
to discuss how best to use committees and task forces to serve both our organization and 
society as a whole. This exercise generated valuable feedback to Council, as well as renewed 
enthusiasm on behalf of committee members. 

One suggestion put forth during this activity was that the Chair of each committee be invited to 
participate in the Council Annual Strategic Planning Session in April. As a result, I, along with 
the Chairs of all the other non-legislated committees, had the privilege of participating in the 
generation of the ABVMA Professional Enhancement Leadership Team and Advisory Committee 
Terms of Reference Document, which serves to clarify and solidify the purpose and roles of 
committees within the structure of the ABVMA. 

Finally, this November, members of our committee met again in the ABVMA offices to discuss the 
Committee Terms of Reference, the Council Strategic Priorities, and Committee Re-appointments. 
We also had a presentation by Parcom regarding the ABVMA’s presence on social media and 
discussed how our committee can be involved. We finished off with a brainstorming session - 
developing key messages for social media that our committee would like to put forth, including 
but not limited to the issue of feral horses in Alberta, the rabbit overpopulation in Canmore, 
the feeding of wildlife, and Epizootic Hemorrhagic Disease in white-tailed deer. Parcom also 
assisted us in setting up a closed Facebook account for our committee so that we can better 
communicate with each other, and with Parcom, in between face-to-face meetings. This account 
will also serve as a means to direct each other’s attention to potential articles or issues of interest 
to our community.

Overall, the newly-branded and re-focused Wildlife and Ecosystem Health Advisory Committee 
had a successful and productive year, and I believe that I speak for all of us by saying that we 
are excited to see what the next few years will bring. 

WILDLIFE AND ECOSYSTEM HEALTH
ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT
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HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Dr. Lucas Yuricek  – Chair

In 2013, the Vet Med 21 committee met in person during the Leadership Weekend February 8 
in Edmonton. 
A new schedule was in place at the 2013 Leadership Weekend and committees had limited time to 
conduct meetings. The committees were also introduced to upcoming changes for committees. The 
Vet Med 21 committee would become the Human Resource Development Advisory Committee.

Discussed Agenda Items
 1. Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair.
 2. Mentorship Program/Mentorship task force.
 3. Communication within committee.
 4. Career guidance for veterinarians.
 5.  Improving communication between committees/task forces/Council and general 

members.
 6. Maintaining a strong organization.

1) Chair and vice Chair:
  Dr. Lucas Yuricek – appointed as Chair
  Ms. Lucille Landals – appointed as Vice-Chair

2) Mentorship program: 
While the value of mentorship is not debated within the group, debate over the modes of 
delivery and voluntary versus mandatory seem to stall any progress. In order to engage our 
members in future discussions as to the directions to pursue, more information about mentorship 
directed to the general membership would be of value. Given previous positive experiences with 
Bernie Vincent (several ABVMA members have participated in mentorship training), a known 
thought leader in mentorship and skilled presenter and facilitator, a motion was made by Lucas 
Yuricek and seconded by Bonnie Buntain to address 
 •  Motion:  A general presentation be made at Registration Day to define what mentorship 

is, and how to approach asking a practitioner to be your mentor as a new graduate.
In addition, to help stimulate further progress through action items, taking into account the 
proper structure of the ABVMA (Committees are to advise, Task forces are to act) A secondary 
motion was presented: 
 •  Motion: That ABVMA consider a mentorship task force. Motion made by Bonnie 

Buntain and seconded by Lucille Landals. Carried.

3) Communication with committees and data analysis: 
To improve communication within committees and task forces, we reflected on the positive 
experiences and ease of use of on-line survey programs like “Survey Monkey”. This is a free 
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program, but a paid account with Survey Monkey would provide more valuable in depth 
analysis of data about the survey results compared to using the complimentary version. Motion 
was made by Lucille Landals and seconded by Bonnie Buntain:
 •  Motion: That ABVMA investigate a paid account for Survey Monkey for committees 

to use.

4) Veterinarians transitioning careers:
Bonnie Buntain brought up issues of re-training needed when a practitioner changes streams 
and needs retraining (i.e. from government to practice). While the ABVMA would not need 
to carry full responsibility for the re-training, it could serve as a centralized resource to help 
connect veterinarians to the right areas. Ideas included an area on the ABMVA website (or 
wellness section) called Vets in Transition. There could be resources and volunteer mentors listed, 
career planning ideas/resources. Bonnie would help with questions if a job transition survey 
could be done. No motion presented at this time to present to Council. 

5)  Communication between ABVMA committees/task forces/Council/
members: 

To address the struggle to maintain communication and promote progress, issues faced when 
only one annual meeting occur, a proposal for a “communication cycle” was put forward by 
Lucas Yuricek. It would also address the proper roles of committees and task forces, something 
that has been raised in previous meetings that there is confusion from general members as to 
“who does what” and how they can direct themselves to the “ideas” or the “actions”. 

 •  The leadership weekend in February would be for recapping of previous year and 
putting forth ideas for current year. 

 •  April would see the addition of the chair of all the committees present at the strategic 
planning session of Council to present the motions and receive feedback from Council 
as to what kinds of task forces they approve of to work on issues for the current year. 

 •  Chairs then communicate back to committee members about Council and task forces 
can be formed from committee members and also general members – responsibility of 
chair and committee members to reach out. 

 • Timeline for task force activities – April Through October
 •  Committees could take opportunity at CanWest to finalize any additional work and 

prepare for presentation to Council so that at the leadership weekend in February 
Council could report any major issues and progress to general members at AGM. 

6) How to maintain strong organization? 
Discussion was had around encouraging Council to look at what’s happening in British Columbia 
and AAAHT/ABMVA relationship. No motion was presented.
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NATIONAL LEADERSHIP

Strength in Collaboration 
A joint Task Force of representatives of the provincial veterinary 
regulatory bodies and CVMA have developed a collaboration 
proposal which has been approved in principle by 7 out of 10 
provinces and CVMA, and is now being further considered by the 
Registrars. Most of the services CVMA provides benefit the entire 
profession and many of them serve the public, directly or indirectly. 
Collaboration among the regulatory bodies and with CVMA creates 
efficiencies by eliminating duplication of processes, and strengthens 
the effective flow of information and knowledge across all provinces.

At the national level, CVMA provides the forum to create one voice 
for the profession through seeking input from members, veterinary medical associations, species 
groups and regulatory bodies. CVMA represents Canadian veterinarians in key government 
discussions on national and international issues to ensure that important decisions that may affect 
veterinary practice will not be made by others without veterinary input. Our profession must be 
engaged in national and international issues and show leadership in areas such as antimicrobial 
stewardship, regulations for extra label drug use, use of compounded drugs and telemedicine. 
Canadian veterinarians must show leadership on animal welfare issues such as cosmetic surgery, 
euthanasia and pain management. CVMA is participating in the development of food animal codes 
of practice and developing and maintaining the Canadian cattery and kennel codes of practice. 
CVMA’s two journals provide the only national platform for peer-reviewed research. Our work-life 
balance and business management services, including CVMA’s suggested fee guides and our very 
competitive insurance program are just some of the benefits and services that support the needs of 
CVMA members.

We are a small profession, and the proposed collaboration aims at more equal participation and 
contribution of all Canadian veterinarians to outcomes that benefit the entire profession and the 
public.

Antimicrobial Stewardship
In March 2013, the Ontario Medical Association made headlines when they publicly recommended 
that the federal government and the Government of Ontario should close the legal loopholes 
that currently allow animal owners to access veterinary pharmaceutical products for their own 
personal use without surveillance or regulation. CVMA issued a statement on behalf of Canadian 
veterinarians to make the public aware that CVMA has already been urging the federal government 
for many years to implement a legislative change that closes the loophole in Health Canada’s Own 
Use Importation (OUI) policy, particularly for antimicrobials. 

CANADIAN VETERINARY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION (CVMA)
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CVMA Represents Veterinarians During Key Discussions on  
Veterinary Drug Importation
In April 2013, veterinarians were represented by CVMA at a Health Canada consultation meeting 
on veterinary drug regulatory modernization, during which key discussions on drug importation took 
place. For many years CVMA has been urging Health Canada to close two regulatory loopholes. 
These voids in regulation pose risks to animal health, public health and food safety. In particular, the 
CVMA is concerned with the lack of regulation that allows the importation of active pharmaceutical 
ingredients (APIs) and their direct administration to food animals. The CVMA is also concerned 
with the importation of ‘over the counter’ veterinary drugs not approved in Canada, using a Health 
Canada policy for OUI. In particular, CVMA is concerned about the importation of antimicrobials. 
This provision was originally intended for people travelling abroad to return to Canada with a 
short supply of human medications for their personal use. Livestock producers have been using this 
OUI policy loophole to import veterinary drugs into Canada. Currently the CVMA is reviewing two 
proposals brought forward to address these long-standing veterinary drug importation regulatory 
gaps. National veterinary species associations (Canadian Associations of Bovine, Poultry and Swine 
Practitioners) will be consulted so that the feedback to Health Canada from the veterinary profession 
in Canada is cohesive and complete. 

CVMA Representation on AVMA Antimicrobial Task Force
With the increasing concern of the spread of antibiotic resistant organisms and fewer new 
antimicrobials in development, the American Veterinary Medical Association (AVMA) is seeking 
measures to encourage antimicrobial stewardship among companion animal veterinarians and 
practices. AVMA has established a Task Force on Antimicrobial Stewardship in Companion Animal 
Practice and invited CVMA to be part of this Task Force. CVMA Council selected Dr. Nigel Gumley 
to represent the CVMA and Canada’s veterinarians on this task force. 

Canadian Veterinarians Represented at 2013 International Summit for Urban 
Animal Strategies
On behalf of the veterinary profession, CVMA representatives attended the 2013 International 
Summit for Urban Animal Strategies in Lake Louise, Alberta from October 16 to 19. The theme of the 
Summit, “Facts and Evidence”, provided the opportunity to discuss consumer service, the declining 
pet population, cost of pet ownership and licensing compliance. As a participating delegate, CVMA 
joined other thought leaders in the industry to consider tactics and strategies for these issues in order 
to create a more positive experience for pet owners. 

National Issues Position Statements
The CVMA revised or approved the following general position statements this year:
 ■ Dog Breeding
 ■ Telemedicine (member consultation currently in progress)
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Animal Welfare Position Statements
The CVMA revised or approved the following Animal Welfare Position Statements this year: 
 ■ Free-roaming, Abandoned and Feral Cats 
 ■ Cosmetic Alteration 
 ■ Capture of Wild Animals for the Pet Trade
 ■ Castration of Horses, Donkeys and Mules
 ■ Neutering of Dogs and Cats
 ■ Trapping of Fur-Bearing Animals
 ■ Pain Control in Animals
 ■ Use of Lead Fishing Sinkers and Lead Shot in Canada

Canada’s Two Scientific Veterinary Journals
The Canadian Veterinary Journal continues to be published monthly and four editions of the 
Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research (CJVR) were produced during 2013.

CVMA Involvement in Development of NFACC National Code’s of Practice
CVMA’s review of the National Farm Animal Care Council’s (NFACC) updates of the Equine Code 
of Practice, Beef Cattle Code of Practice, Pig Code of Practice and Sheep Code of Practice are now 
complete. Feedback has been provided to NFACC on behalf of CVMA members. Thank you to all 
members in Newfoundland and Labrador who responded to our request for input on some key 
animal welfare issues in the draft Code. Your input helped formulate comments that represent our 
national veterinary voice on issues that may have important implications for veterinary practice.

CVMA Code of Practice for Canadian Kennel Operations
CVMA’s Animal Welfare Committee began a review and revision of the 2007 edition of the CVMA 
Code of Practice for Canadian Kennel Operations. As the first step in the review, CVMA members 
were consulted over the summer for feedback on various issues including tethering of dogs, time 
spent out of confinement and kennel requirements for home breeding operations versus commercial 
kennel operations. 

Communications Audit
Many veterinarians and student veterinarians took the time to participate in the CVMA communications 
audit online survey and shared their views in a telephone interview with Delta Media / Vision 
Research. The answers and insight that was provided has been analyzed by Delta Media. This 
information will be reviewed at the November 2013 CVMA Council Meeting in order to help shape 
CVMA’s future communication efforts and the programs and services it will offer to the veterinary 
profession in the future. 

Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation 
Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation is new legislation that is intended to prohibit the sending of 
unsolicited commercial electronic messages to recipients who have not consented to being sent such 
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messages. This legislation is expected to come into force during 2014 (date yet to be confirmed). 
Until the law comes into force, businesses should begin to prepare. Since July 2013, CVMA has 
been producing monthly articles to guide veterinarians through this legislation. These articles are 
available in the News section of our website (www.candianveterinarians.net), in The CVJ and in our 
monthly eNewsletter in order to help you prepare for compliance.

Media and Public Relations
CVMA continues to represent Canadian veterinarians and position the profession positively in the 
public eye by continually providing credible, expert information to the media and public. CVMA 
carefully monitors and identifies issues that affect veterinarians and comments publicly when 
appropriate. During 2013, CVMA managed several national media issues, most recently including 
the CBC Marketplace “Barking Mad” program, overnight hospitalization of pets, cross-border 
shopping for veterinary services and reports of pet illnesses and deaths that may be connected to 
consumption of jerky treats.

Savings and Discounts for CVMA Members
CVMA uses its group purchase power to negotiate preferential prices for CVMA members. CVMA 
members continue to enjoy exclusive savings and discounts on hotel reservations, car rentals, office 
supplies, business banking services, classified advertising in the CVJ, convention registration and 
more. 

CVMA Insurance Program 
Specialized coverage, risk management services and preferred rates exclusive for members. Save 
on premiums for commercial, liability, group health, personal automobile and home insurance.

CVMA Awards
Each year, through its awards program, the Canadian Veterinary Medical Association honours 
selected individuals and groups in recognition of their contributions to veterinary medicine and to 
the health and welfare of animals. During 2013, the following awards were presented:

CVMA Humane Award:  Dr. Judith French-Sampson
CVMA Small Animal Practitioner Award:  Dr. Cheryl Cullen
Merck Veterinary Award:  Dr. John Kastelic
Practice of the Year:  Calgary Trail Pet Hospital  
R.V.L. Walker Award: Ms. Emily Vellekoop
President’s Award: Dr. Terry Whiting

Nominations for the 2014 CVMA Awards are being accepted from November 2013 until January 
31, 2014. All CVMA members are invited to nominate deserving candidates. Visit the CVMA 
website under the Programs section to view the Awards and Nomination information.
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PRACTICE INITIATIVES

Preventive Healthcare Toolkit Now Available for CVMA Members
As an Associate Member of Partners for Healthy Pets, the CVMA is pleased to offer CVMA members 
access to the Partners for Healthy Pets preventive healthcare toolkit. Partners for Healthy Pets is an 
alliance of more than 20 veterinary associations and animal health companies who are committed 
to improving the overall health of pets. Partners for Healthy Pets has developed a collection of 
tools and resources to enhance the overall vitality of pets and veterinary practices, the delivery of 
preventive healthcare services and communication with pet owners about the value of routine care. 
Our membership in this group provides CVMA members with online access to the educational 
tools and resources available on the Partners for Healthy Pets website. During 2013, CVMA’s 
Communications Advisory Group reviewed the tools and provided a series of recommendations in 
The CVJ and in CVMA’s monthly eNewsletter on the tools they found most useful.

Pet Nutrition Alliance
The Pet Nutrition Alliance (PNA) consists of a number of organizations working together to promote 
the importance of nutrition in the health of pets. The CVMA is the Canadian partner of PNA, with 
Dr. Jim Berry as our representative. Ottawa veterinarian Dr. Susan Little also serves on the PNA tools 
development committee tasked to develop tools and resources to aid veterinarians with discussing 
the nutritional guidelines with clients. Visit petnutritionalliance.com to access the free PNA 
tools and resources. CVMA’s Communications Advisory Group recently reviewed the tools and 
their recommendations will be available in upcoming editions of The CVJ and CVMA’s monthly 
eNewsletter.

Thank You Animal Health Week Participants!
Thank you to all those clinics and hospitals in Alberta who participated and helped us celebrate 
Animal Health Week in October by putting the spotlight on preventive health exams. A special thank 
you to our campaign sponsors, IDEXX Laboratories, Petsecure Pet Health Insurance 
Inc., iFinance Pet (Petcard) and Scotiabank! Please join us again next year for Animal 
Health Week from September 28 to October 4, 2014.

Everybody Needs Help From Time to Time
When life becomes more challenging than what you can handle, it may negatively affect 
your personal and professional well-being. Should you need to reach out for assistance or 
support, a nation-wide listing of crisis centres, resources and support services is available 
on the CVMA website. You’ll find this list and other wellness resources under the section  
Resources > Veterinarian Health & Wellness.

CVMA Animal Health Articles
Follow CVMA on Facebook or Twitter for access to lots of great animal health information from our 
collection of online articles, available at www.animalhealthcare.ca or through the Animal Owners 
section of www.canadianveterinarians.net. 
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Support Services for Veterinary Practices
Merchant payment processing service, business banking program, member rates on classified 
advertising, telephone hold service. 

CVMA Economic Services
CVMA business management services continue to be delivered, including provincial suggested fee 
guides, associate and non-DVM compensation and benefits reports, economic consulting services, 
practice management resources, financial management services and employment guidelines.

Free One-on-One Business Consultations
A full day of free one-on-one business consultations was offered for CVMA members during the 
2013 CVMA Convention in Victoria. These personalized and private one-hour consultations (value 
of $350), which are available each year during the CVMA Convention, with Darren Osborne, 
Economic Consultant for the CVMA, can help you make positive changes in your practice. Plan to 
take advantage of this opportunity when the CVMA Convention is held in St. John’s in July 2014!

CVMA Emerging Leaders Program in Victoria
Veterinary leaders of tomorrow gathered for a full day interactive workshop during the CVMA 
Convention in Victoria. This leadership seminar explored participants’ approach to personal and 
professional accomplishment and how they work with colleagues and healthcare teammates. Dr. 
Rick DeBowes, co-founder of the AVMA Veterinary Leadership Experience, guided participants 
through this experience and help them gain leadership skills that will bring you and your veterinary 
hospital to a new level. Watch for details on the 2014 Emerging Leaders Program, coming to St. 
John’s in July 2014.

Canadian Veterinary Medical Association
339, rue Booth Street, Ottawa (Ontario) K1R 7K1
t: 613-236-1162 x 128  /  800-567-2862   f: 613-236-9681   
www.canadianveterinarians.net
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Dr. Alastair Cribb – Dean

This year marked our 8th anniversary and the admission of our 
sixth class. Our second graduating class (the Class of 2013) 
receiving their degrees in May 2013. The Class of 2013 took 
full advantage of opportunities in Alberta and around the globe. 
While approximately 50 per cent are pursuing rural practice 
in Alberta, in alignment with the mission of the Faculty, others 
have spread out to pursue internships, pathology residencies, 
international practice experiences, and even an internship with 
the OIE in Paris. Once again, the vast majority of students are 
pursuing careers in Alberta.

We launched our one year post-graduate survey for the Class of 2012 and their employers. 
We are looking forward to the results, which should be available in 2014. These results will 
feed into our on-going DVM program review. While we are pleased with our program, we 
recognize that there are areas that need improvement and successful areas that can be further 
enhanced. Dr. Jerry Bailey, associate dean, academic, is leading this important review.
We are grateful for the on-going support of the veterinary community, and specifically the 
approximately 60 practices that make up the Distributed Veterinary Learning Community. We 
are also pleased with the growth of specialty services offered by UCVM faculty in partnership 
with practices in the Calgary area.

In October, 2013 UCVM hosted another successful Clinical Teaching Workshop with our 
Distributed Veterinary Learning Community (DVLC) and UCVM instructors. The topics covered 
included: Encouraging Students to Select Appropriate Diagnostic test; a report on the Primary 
Care Veterinary Educators World Symposium by Dr. Ken Hubbard who with Dr. Cary Hashizume, 
attended on behalf of the UCVM and DVLC; Using ECG’s as part of Clinical Training (Dr. Soren 
Boysen); and Teaching and Assessing Clinical Skills (Drs. Ashley Whitehead and Emma Read).  

One of the unique aspects of our curriculum is the third year research project. Each year the 
third year class pursues a clinically relevant research project, with the goal of publishing a peer-
reviewed paper. The first paper, produced by the Class of 2012, was published in the August 
edition of the Canadian Veterinary Journal. The class explored the stress associated with on-
farm slaughter of bison compared with transport to an off-site processing plant.

This year saw a further increase in student applications, with 198 eligible applications (out 
of 240 total applications) for 30 available seats. This upward pressure has caused us to give 
careful consideration to our admissions procedures and consider whether our current system 
needs to be modified. The quality of applicants remains high and has been driving up average 

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY 
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GPA’s required for admissions. No decisions have been made, but we are considering changes 
that may be implemented in the next two years. Potential changes include the introduction 
of standardized testing (e.g. using MCATs) and the application of non-academic criteria in 
selecting students for interviews.

Graduate and clinical programs at UCVM continue to expand. UCVM faculty now supervises 
over 100 trainees. Our partnership internship programs (delivered with the CARE Centre, 
Western Veterinary Specialist and Emergency Centre, Moore Equine Veterinary Centre,  
TD Equine Group, and West Wind Veterinary Hospital) is now well-established and typically 
hosts 10 interns a year. 

The interns have been very successful, with many hired by the original hosting practice or 
pursuing residencies at veterinary colleges across North America. 

Building on the success of our traditional graduate and intern partnership programs, we are 
looking ahead to further advanced clinical programs. Contributions to advanced clinical 
training and the training of new academic and research veterinarians is an important mandate 
of a veterinary college. Our ability to advance clinical veterinary medicine and research will 
be a key marker of the success and the sustainability of the distributed educational model. Our 
clinical educational model means that we need to be creative in how our advanced clinical 
training programs are delivered and financed. As we look ahead to formal residency programs, 
we have decided that all our advanced clinical programs will include a formal graduate (MSc or 
PhD) program. We have defined the advanced clinical programs to include individual animal-
based programs, population and public health based programs and diagnostic programs. We 
have started with two clinical fellowships, one in production animal health and one in equine 
clinical sciences, to identify the best practices in delivering these programs. Fellows will complete 
a formal graduate program while pursuing advanced clinical or population health training. 

When UCVM was established, we set a target of 70 faculty members. We have had significant 
growth in the last 18 months, adding 16 permanent faculty members (seven in the last 12 months). 
In particular, we have added strength in small animal surgery and medicine, therapeutics, 
theriogenology (equine and bovine), prion diseases, equine medicine and surgery, cattle health 
and comparative biomedical sciences. The awarding of our first Canada Research Chair to  
Dr. Sabine Gilch in prion diseases was a particular highlight.

We also named two new department heads this year. Dr. John Kastelic is the new head of 
Production Animal Health and Dr. Michel Levy is the new head of Veterinary Clinical and 
Diagnostic Sciences.

For more details on our accomplishments in the last year, please visit our website at  
www.vet.ucalgary.ca and click on the link to our 2012-13 Report to Community.



A B V M A   2 0 1 346

Dr. Douglas Freeman - Dean

This has been a productive year for the Western College of 
Veterinary Medicine. We are working on developing new and 
expanding existing programs, introducing new technologies and 
people, and implementing strategies to ensure a secure future for 
our veterinary college. 

We are excited to welcome new people to the WCVM. In March, 
Dr. Duncan Hockley (WCVM ’92) became the new director of the 
WCVM’s Veterinary Medical Centre. Hockley has a broad range 
of experience in private veterinary practice, the animal health 
industry and in veterinary research. 

In addition to Dr. Hockley, the WCVM has recruited four clinical faculty members who recently 
began their new roles. Three positions are in the Department of Small Animal Clinical Sciences: 
Drs. Katharine Woods and Casey Gaunt, both assistant professors in small animal internal 
medicine, and Dr. Suresh Sathya who is an assistant professor of small animal surgery. Dr. Kate 
Robinson, who just completed an equine field service residency, is a new assistant professor in 
the WCVM’s Department of Large Animal Clinical Sciences. 

Based on feedback from students, graduates, employers and alumni, we continue to add new 
learning opportunities to our DVM curriculum. This fall, our new wellness veterinarian — Dr. 
Jordan Woodsworth — will begin mentoring fourth-year students during two-week wellness 
rotations at the Veterinary Medical Centre (VMC). The wellness program will offer senior students 
an enhanced experience in small animal preventive medicine and wellness care. During their 
rotation, the students will focus on client interactions, well-patient care and relevant wellness 
topics. 

Some of the WCVM’s veterinary surgical faculty members have been exploring the use of 
simulation equipment for minimally invasive surgeries that’s now available in the new U of S 
Clinical Learning Resource Centre (CRLC). WCVM faculty members who conduct our veterinary 
communication course have also been visiting the CLRC to learn more about working with 
standardized clients and models for communication training and integrating with other health 
sciences. The resource sharing has been very effective, and it’s all part of the college’s research 
into alternatives for training veterinary students and residents. Our goal is to enhance student 
learning in a variety of competencies and to decrease our reliance on the use of cadavers and 
live animals in the WCVM’s teaching program — a trend that is occurring in veterinary colleges 
throughout North America.

WESTERN COLLEGE OF VETERINARY MEDICINE REPORT
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In February, the U of S invested $150,000 toward the development of a service learning 
program. Specifically, these funds will support a mobile clinic and research laboratory that will 
be equipped with basic clinical and research equipment. Once the mobile clinic and research 
lab is in place, this new resource will enhance our DVM program by providing veterinary 
students with integrated experience in community service and outreach. The program will also 
provide service to under-served populations in Saskatoon and in the North. The new resources 
will also enrich the research and training of graduate students who are already conducting 
community-based research projects in the areas of infectious diseases, food safety, public health 
and One Health. 

To encourage feedback from local practitioners about these new programs and other 
developments at the college, the WCVM is working to be part of the provincial veterinary 
medical associations’ annual conferences by helping to arrange for speakers and setting up 
our display in the conference tradeshows. In the Saskatoon area, we’ve also planned informal 
“wine and cheese” evenings where local practitioners can meet with WCVM faculty and staff. 
We plan to host more of these social evenings in the following months. 

The WCVM’s graduate student population continues to grow as we explore new ways to 
build and enrich research and training opportunities. For example, the college is a leader in 
the new Integrated Training Program (ITraP) in Infectious Diseases, Food Safety and Public 
Policy — a U of S training program that will produce future leaders in food safety, infectious 
disease control and public policy. This international initiative, which includes universities in 
Germany, India and Brazil, received $1.65 million through NSERC’s Collaborative Research 
and Training Experience program. During the next six years, this program will prepare more 
than 55 graduates for diverse careers in government, industry and academia. 

In the area of research, the U of S was among eight Canadian universities that were awarded 
$10-million Canada Excellence Research Chairs (CERCs) last November. The university’s newest 
research chair will focus on integrated infectious disease mitigation — a vital addition to the U 
of S as well as to the WCVM. The university’s aim is to recruit a research chair whose leadership 
will transform the way we approach infectious diseases: improving prevention, diagnosis and 
control of priority diseases such as tuberculosis, HIV, West Nile virus, and food-borne and 
water-related diseases. 

Another development that will help to encourage research collaborations is the new U of S Centre 
for Applied Epidemiology. Dr. Tasha Epp, an associate professor of zoonoses and epidemiology 
at the WCVM and the centre’s director, introduced the organization’s creation during the 
Canadian Association of Veterinary Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine conference that 
took place at the WCVM in late May. 
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The veterinary college is a leader in the area of One Health through our efforts in research 
and education. In August, the WCVM was an integral part of the second annual One Health 
Leadership Experience — a three-day workshop for U of S health science students. More than 
90 participants attended the 2013 event that included North American One Health leaders 
from the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) in Ottawa, the Centers of Disease Prevention 
and Control in Atlanta, Georgia, the Warrior Canine Connection in Washington, D.C., and the 
Association of American Veterinary Medical Colleges (AAVMC). 

As part of this year’s conference, participants heard presentations by two student groups that 
received funding for their One Health projects. The money came from a $10,000 fund that was 
established after the 2012 workshop. It was inspiring to witness the students’ commitment to 
One Health through their projects that focused on issues facing people in communities around 
the world. 

WCVM representatives also helped to organize another One Health-related event this year: 
“Frontiers in Hybrid Medical Imaging Technology” was a day-long brainstorming workshop 
that brought international medical imaging experts to the U of S campus in May. The workshop’s 
50-plus participants came from various backgrounds including veterinary medicine, human 
health care, physics and industry. The workshop’s goals were to summarize current techniques 
of hybrid imaging, to identify challenges and develop a strategy for tackling these issues. 
Organizers will use the participants’ recommendations to draft a proposal for potential funding 
through government and industry programs.

The WCVM hosted several events that helped to showcase the expanded Ryan/Dubé Equine 
Performance Centre’s resources as well as our equine clinical services and research efforts. 
One event took place last February when attendees of the Saskatchewan Equine Expo 
watched demonstrations featuring the centre’s treadmill, longeing ring, standing MRI and other 
resources. The Equine Expo is an annual public event jointly organized by Prairieland Park, the 
Saskatchewan Horse Federation and the WCVM.

WCVM faculty, staff and students have also travelled across Western Canada to take part in a 
number of major agricultural and veterinary events. Our team is looking forward to repeating 
our participation at many of these events in the next year and interacting with more of our 
stakeholders. 

As a final note, I want to highlight the people — WCVM students, staff and faculty — who 
truly make this veterinary college special. I am very proud of our group, and it is extremely 
heartening to see that more than 400 aspiring veterinarians applied to the WCVM for the 
2013-14 academic year — the highest number of applications received from western Canadian 
residents in the college’s 48-year history. These students wish to come because of our high-
quality programs — and we could not offer those programs without our dedicated and talented 
faculty and staff. 
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HISTORICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT

A number of WCVM faculty members received high-profile recognition for their efforts in the 
past 12 months: 
  Dr. Bruce Wobeser of the WCVM’s Department of Veterinary Pathology received the 

Pfizer Carl J. Norden Distinguished Teacher Award. 
  Dr. Lynn Weber of the WCVM Department of Veterinary Biomedical Sciences received 

the Pfizer Animal Health Award for Research Excellence.
  Dr. Gillian Muir of the WCVM’s Department of Veterinary Biomedical Sciences received 

the WCVSA Pre-clinical Professor of the Year.
  Dr. Susan Taylor of the WCVM Department of Small Animal Clinical Sciences received 

the Students of the Canadian Veterinary Medical Association Professor of the Year Award. 
She was also the 2013 recipient of the U of S Provost’s College Award for Outstanding 
Teaching. 

  Dr. Karen Sheehan of the WCVM Department of Small Animal Clinical Sciences 
received the Merial Award of Excellence in Clinical Teaching.

  Dr. Casey Gaunt of the WCVM Department of Small Animal Clinical Sciences received 
the Stan Olson Clinical Teaching Award. 

  Dr. Katharina Lohmann of the WCVM’s Department of Large Animal Clinical 
Sciences received the U of S Student’s Union Teaching Excellence Award. 

If you would like to learn more about what’s happening at the WCVM, keep in touch with us 
through WCVM Today (www.wcvmtoday.com), Twitter (@WCVMToday) or by contacting me 
(306-966-7448; douglas.freeman@usask.ca) anytime.

Dr. D.W. MacDonald

The most significant effort centered on the completion of the history book. The book has been 
completed, edited several times by the advisory group, forwarded to the publishing company, 
and publication is expected in the near future. 

The group continues to publish biographies on ABVMA members. This was temporarily 
suspended in order to concentrate our efforts on the completion of the history book.
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Unaudited
INCOME
 2013 2013 Performance 2014
 Performance Budget as % of Budget Budget

4600  Total ABVMA 
Registration 1,940,557.97 1,845,681.00 105.10% 2,024,125.00

4200  Communication  
Revenue 136,454.44 193,750.00 70.40% 115,000.00

4400  Regulatory  
Revenue 93,896.69 65,000.00 144.50% 100,000.00

4352  Practice  
Inspection Fees 102,116.42 94,300.00 108.30% 105,000.00

4010  Interest on  
Investments 38,930.51 41,000.00 95% 24,100.00

4610  Wellness  
Program Revenue 38,730.91   

Total Income 2,350,686.94 2,239,731.00 105% 2,368,225.00

WHAT’S INCLUDED :
 ABVMA Registration  Veterinarian Registrations, Animal Health Technologist 

Registrations, Permits to Practice, Student Member 
Registrations, Administration Fees,  Other Income.

 Communications Revenue  Member Magazine Display Advertising, Classified 
Advertising

 Regulatory Revenue Discipline & Complaints Process
 Practice Inspection Fees Annual Practice Inspection Fees
 Interest on Investments Interest on Portfolio Investments
 Wellness Program Revenue Member Wellness Contributions and Recovery

2013 FINANCIAL REPORT

Total ABVMA Registration 82%
Communication Revenue 6%
Regulatory Revenue 4%
Practice Inspection Fees 4%
Interest on Investments 2%
Wellness Program Revenue 2%
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Unaudited
EXPENSE
 2013 2013 Performance 2014
 Performance Budget as % of Budget Budget
6000  Administration 1,620,475.01 1,490,510.00 108.70% 1,615,670.00

6225  Communication 211,367.64 209,912.00 100.70% 193,800.00

6456  Regulatory  
Expenses 342,616.92 102,500.00 334.30% 140,000.00

6300  Governance  
& Delegation 316,862.52 326,325.00 97.10% 315,000.00

6330  Practice Inspection  
Expense 143,097.00 107,650.00 132.90% 110,000.00

6301  Member Wellness  
Expense 29,770.00 16,400.00 141.40% 32,900.00

Total Expenses 2,664,189.09 2,253,297.00 118.20% 2,407,370.00

WHAT’S INCLUDED :
 Administration  Wages and Benefits, Office Rent and Maintenance, Insurance, 

Telephone, Professional Fees, Internet, Depreciation, Office 
Supplies, Postage and Courier, Repairs and Maintenance, 
General Legal Fees, Bank and Credit Card charges, Copy 
charges, Travel Expenses.

 Governance and Delegation  Council Meetings, Legislated and Professional Development 
Committees, Annual General Meeting, Leadership Weekend, 
Representation/Delegation.

 Communications  Member Magazine, Website, Student Programs, Public Relations, 
Awards

 Regulatory Expenses  Discipline and Complaints Process, Investigations, Complaint 
Review Committee, Hearings, Hearings Director, Practice Review 
Board, Legal Fees, Independent Legal Counsel

 Practice Inspection Expenses PIPS Committee, Auditor Expenses
 Member Wellness Expense Member Wellness Program

Administration 61%
Communication 8%
Regulatory Expenses 13%
Governance & Delegation 12%
Practice Inspection Expense 5%
Member Wellness Expense 1%
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To the Members of Alberta Veterinary Medical Association

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Alberta Veterinary Medical As-
sociation, which comprise the statement of financial position as at October 31, 2013, and the 
statements of changes in members’ equity, operations and cash flow for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial state-
ments in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judg-
ment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonable-
ness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presen-
tation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial po-
sition of Alberta Veterinary Medical Association as at October 31, 2013, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian account-
ing standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Comparative information

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements which 
describes that Alberta Veterinary Medical Association adopted Canadian accounting stan-
dards for not-for-profit organizations on November 1, 2012 with a transition date of Novem-
ber 1, 2011. These standards were applied retrospectively by management to the compara-
tive information in these financial statements, including the statements of financial position as 
at October 31, 2012 and November 1, 2011, and the statements of changes in members’ 
equity, operations and cash flow for the year ended October 31, 2012 and related disclo-
sures. We were not engaged to report on the restated comparative information, and as such, 
it is unaudited.

“Original signed Deloitte LLP”

Chartered Accountants 

December 5, 2013
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As at October 31, 2013

 October 31 October 31 November 1
 2013 2012 2011
  (Unaudited - (Unaudited - 
  Note 2) Note 2) 
ASSETS

CURRENT
 Cash $ 41,998 $ 53,100 $ 179,469
 Accounts receivable (Note 4)  317,233  248,058  184,470
 Investments due within one year (Note 5)   671,622  195,607  301,266 
 Prepaid expenses  18,887  9,925  14,899 

   1,049,740  606,690  680,104

INVESTMENTS (Note 5)  631,157  1,098,958  1,197,811

CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 6)  55,369  90,810  59,314 

INTANGIBLE ASSET (Note 7)  13,141  5,312  14,012 

  $ 1,749,407 $ 1,801,770 $ 1,951,241 

LIABILITIES    

CURRENT    
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 502,108 $ 189,895 $ 122,192 
 Deferred revenue (Note 8)  429,895  491,075  637,311 

   932,003  680,970  759,503 

COMMITMENTS (Note 10)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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MEMBERS’ EQUITY

 Unappropriated members’ deficit  (505,827)  (262,174)  (190,640)
 Operating reserve  1,080,146  1,050,937  994,850 
 Program reserve  64,024  134,025  221,078 
 Professional wellness reserve  110,551  101,890  93,124 
 Investment in capital assets  55,369  90,810  59,314 
 Investment in intangible asset  13,141  5,312  14,012 

   817,404  1,120,800  1,191,738 

  $ 1,749,407 $ 1,801,770 $ 1,951,241 

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of the financial statements.

APPROVED BY THE BOARD   

 Director

 Director



A B V M A   2 0 1 356

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Year ended October 31, 2013

 2013
 Unappropriated Operating Program Professional Invested Invested
 Reserve Reserve Wellness in Capital in Intangible
 Reserve Assets Assets Total

 Balance, beginning of year  $ (262,174) $ 1,050,937  $ 134,025  $ 101,890  $   90,810  $     5,312 $ 1,120,800 
 Investment in capital assets and
 intangible assets  44,038  -  (16,426)  -  (35,441)  7,829  -
 Transfer to reserves  15,705  29,209  (53,575)  8,661  -  -  -
 Deficiency of revenue over expenditure  (303,396)  -  -  -  -  -  (303,396)

 Balance, end of year $ (505,827) $ 1,080,146 $ 64,024 $ 110,551 $ 55,369 $ 13,141 $ 817,404 

 2012 (unaudited - Note 2)
 Unappropriated Operating Program Professional Invested Invested
 Reserve Reserve Wellness in Capital in Intangible
 Reserve Assets Assets Total

 Balance, beginning of year $ (190,640) $ 994,850 $ 221,078 $ 93,124 $ 59,314 $ 14,012 $ 1,191,738 
 Investment in capital assets and 
 intangible assets  (22,796)  -  -  -  31,496  (8,700)  -
 Transfer from program reserve  87,053  -  (87,053)  -  -  -  -
 Transfer to reserves  (64,853)  56,087  -  8,766  -  -  -
 Deficiency of revenue over expenditure  (70,938)  -  -  -  -  -  (70,938)

 Balance, end of year $ (262,174) $ 1,050,937 $ 134,025 $ 101,890 $ 90,810 $ 5,312 $ 1,120,800 

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Year ended October 31, 2013

 2013
 Unappropriated Operating Program Professional Invested Invested
 Reserve Reserve Wellness in Capital in Intangible
 Reserve Assets Assets Total

 Balance, beginning of year  $ (262,174) $ 1,050,937  $ 134,025  $ 101,890  $   90,810  $     5,312 $ 1,120,800 
 Investment in capital assets and
 intangible assets  44,038  -  (16,426)  -  (35,441)  7,829  -
 Transfer to reserves  15,705  29,209  (53,575)  8,661  -  -  -
 Deficiency of revenue over expenditure  (303,396)  -  -  -  -  -  (303,396)

 Balance, end of year $ (505,827) $ 1,080,146 $ 64,024 $ 110,551 $ 55,369 $ 13,141 $ 817,404 

 2012 (unaudited - Note 2)
 Unappropriated Operating Program Professional Invested Invested
 Reserve Reserve Wellness in Capital in Intangible
 Reserve Assets Assets Total

 Balance, beginning of year $ (190,640) $ 994,850 $ 221,078 $ 93,124 $ 59,314 $ 14,012 $ 1,191,738 
 Investment in capital assets and 
 intangible assets  (22,796)  -  -  -  31,496  (8,700)  -
 Transfer from program reserve  87,053  -  (87,053)  -  -  -  -
 Transfer to reserves  (64,853)  56,087  -  8,766  -  -  -
 Deficiency of revenue over expenditure  (70,938)  -  -  -  -  -  (70,938)

 Balance, end of year $ (262,174) $ 1,050,937 $ 134,025 $ 101,890 $ 90,810 $ 5,312 $ 1,120,800 

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year ended October 31, 2013

 Budget October 31 October 31 
 2013 2013 2012 
 (unaudited -  (unaudited -
  Note 11)  Note 2)
REVENUES
 Registration
  Veterinarian registration $ 1,559,431 $ 1,637,096 $ 1,532,195 
  Incorporation permits  51,250  54,511  44,188 
  Licensing fees  85,000  84,005  91,246 
  AHT registration  150,000  162,444  152,576 
 Communications - 
  newsletter/magazine/roster  193,750  137,404  188,856 
 Restricted Programs - Schedule  -  651,757  761,534 
 Practice inspections  94,300  102,314  92,919 
 Professional wellness
  General  -  21,026  24,361 
  Recovery  -  17,705  24,545 
 Investment interest  41,000  38,931  47,228 
 Discipline/complaints program  65,000  93,897  74,854 
    2,239,731  3,001,090  3,034,502 

EXPENSES
 Governance
  Leadership weekend  140,000  125,199  135,251 
  Council and other committee meetings  111,500  92,013  132,742 
  Representation/delegation  74,825  100,812  76,592 
 Communications
  Publication and website  141,067  187,898  176,519 
  Public relations and awards  42,845  31,036  65,368 
  Student programs  26,000  31,714  20,908 
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 Restricted Programs - Schedule  -  594,336  757,322 
 Practice inspections  107,650  122,947  87,135 
 Professional wellness  16,400  30,070  40,140 
 Career development video  -  -  24,000 
 Economic survey  -  2,295  3,066 
 Radio winter campaign  -  -  398 
 Administration
  Wages and benefits  905,000  882,704  871,088 
  Office rent  256,250   271,815  258,113 
  Office operations  100,260  168,736  103,511 
  Professional services  77,000  135,101  72,408 
  General legal fees  75,000  71,944  42,283 
  Credit cards  51,000  57,759  49,412 
  Postage and courier  26,000  21,747  28,975 
  Bad debt expense  -  30,027  -
 Discipline/complaints program  102,500  342,617  156,632 
 Changes in unrealized fair value  -  3,716  3,577 
    2,253,297  3,304,486  3,105,440 
 DEFICIENCY OF REVENUES  
 OVER EXPENSES $ (13,566) $ (303,396) $ (70,938)

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Year ended October 31, 2013

  2013 2012 
   (unaudited -
   Note 2)

NET INFLOW (OUTFLOW) OF CASH RELATED
TO THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES
OPERATING
 Deficiency of revenues over expenses   $  (303,396) $ (70,938)
 Item not affecting cash
  Changes in unrealized fair value    3,716  3,577 
  Depreciation and amortization    44,038  34,259 

      (278,724)  (33,102)

 Changes in non-cash working capital items
  Accounts receivable    (69,175)  (63,588)
  Prepaid expenses    (8,962)  4,974 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   312,213  67,703 
  Deferred revenue    (61,180)  (146,236)

      (82,746)  (170,249)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 Purchase of capital and intangible assets    (16,426)  (57,055)
 Redemption of investments    387,070  300,935 
 Purchase of investments    (399,000)  (100,000)

      (28,356)  143,880 

NET CASH OUTFLOW    (111,102)  (26,369)

CASH POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR    153,100  179,469 

CASH POSITION, END OF YEAR   $ 41,998 $ 153,100 

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
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Year ended October 31, 2013 

1.  PURPOSE OF ASSOCIATION
   The Alberta Veterinary Medical Association (the “Association”) is the official body in which 

all veterinarians practicing their profession in Alberta must maintain membership. The 
Association serves the public through self-governance in accordance with the Veterinary 
Profession Act. This includes licensing, discipline, and the setting and maintenance of high 
levels of practice standards. The Association is a not-for-profit medical organization under 
the Canadian Income Tax Act and, as such, is not subject to income tax.

2.  IMPACT OF THE CHANGE IN THE BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
   During the year ended October 31, 2013, the Association adopted the new accounting 

standards for not-for-profit organizations (the “new standards”) issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) set out 
in Part III of the CICA Handbook. In accordance with Section 1501 of Part III of the 
CICA Handbook, First-Time Adoption (“Section 1501”), the date of transition to the new 
standards is November 1, 2011, and the Association has prepared and presented an 
opening statement of financial position at the date of transition to the new standards. 
This opening statement of financial position is the starting point for the Association’s 
accounting under the new standards. In the opening statement of financial position, under 
the recommendations of Section 1501, the Association:

   a)  Recognized all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by the new 
standards;

   b)  Did not recognize items as assets or liabilities if the new standards do not permit such 
recognition;

   c)  Reclassified items that it recognized previously as one type of asset, liability or 
component of net assets, but are recognized as a different type of asset, liability or 
component of net assets under the new standards; and

   d)  Applied the new standards in measuring all recognized assets and liabilities.
  In accordance with the requirements of Section 1501, the accounting policies set out in Note 

3 have been consistently applied to all years presented.
  The Association has elected to take the exemption available under Section 1501 to designate 

its investments to be measured at fair value. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. IMPACT OF THE CHANGE IN THE BASIS OF ACCOUNTING (continued)
   There is no impact resulting from the adoption of the new standards on the statement of 

financial position, statement of changes to members’ equity and statement of cash flow. 
The impact on the statement of operations is as follows:

 Balance
 previously   Balance
 reported   adjusted
 for the   for the
 year ended   year ended
 October 31   October 31,
 2012 Adjustment Reference 2012
Deficiency of revenues 
over expenses $ (67,361) $ (3,577)  a) $ (70,938)

 Explanation of adjustments
  a)  Under Part III of the Handbook, changes in fair value shall be recognized in the 

deficiency of revenues over expenses in the period incurred. Previously the changes 
were presented outside of the deficiency of revenues over expenses but directly in 
changes to net assets, so no adjustment is required for opening net assets.

   The Association adjusted the notes to the financial statements to meet the requirements of 
the new accounting framework.

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
   Financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting 

standards for not-for-profit organizations and they reflect the following significant 
accounting policies:

 Revenue recognition
   The Association follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted 

contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are 
incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when they are received 
or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is 
reasonably assured. 

   Membership fees are levied by the Association to its members on a calendar year basis 
and are recorded as income on a straight-line basis over the 12-month period to which 
they relate.

  Other income is unrestricted and is recognized in the period earned.
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 Cash
   Cash consists of cash on hand and cash on deposit in bank accounts. Included in cash is 

$31,387 (2012 - $30,886; 2011 – $31,635) related to the Radiation Protection Program.
 Capital assets
   Capital assets are stated at cost and depreciated using the declining balance (“DB”) and 

straight-line (“S-L”) methods at rates disclosed in Note 6.
 Intangible assets
   Intangible assets are assets that lack physical substance. Intangible assets with a definite 

useful life are amortized over their estimated useful life in accordance with the rates 
disclosed in Note 7. 

 Long-lived assets
   When long-lived assets no longer have any service potential to the Association, an 

impairment loss is recognized. The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the 
excess of the carrying value of the asset over its residual value.

 Financial instruments
   Financial assets and financial liabilities, with the exception of investments, are initially 

recognized at fair value less transaction costs when the Association becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument, and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost with any changes recorded in the statement of operations.

   Investments are measured at fair value with any changes recorded in the statement of 
operations. The fair value of investments is determined using market rates and prices.

 Use of estimates
   The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with Canadian accounting standards 

for not-for-profit organizations, requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in 
making such estimates, actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant areas 
that require the use of management’s estimates include the collectible amounts of accounts 
receivable, the useful lives of capital assets and intangible assets and the corresponding 
rates of amortization, the amount of accrued liabilities, the amount of revenue to defer and 
recognize, and the fair value of financial instruments.

 Members’ equity
   The Association relies mainly on the members’ subscriptions to finance its operations. The 

funds available are allocated to the various programs based on the priorities identified 
by the Council. The objective is to set aside at least 45% of annual income as reserve for 
operations and up to 10% of annual income as reserve for programs.
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   The member’s equity of the Association consists of the unappropriated members’ deficit, 
equity in capital assets and intangible assets, and operating, program and professional 
wellness reserves.

   Transfers to and from equity invested in capital and intangible assets consist of additions 
funded through operations and depreciation. Additions of $16,426 related to the purchase 
of intangible assets were transferred from the program reserve.

   In 2012, the Association’s Council approved the use of $50,000 from the program reserve 
to finance the Social Media Program for each of the next two years. The maximum fund to 
be drawn is $50,000 per year. An amount of $50,000 was transferred in the current year 
(2012 - $50,000) to the unappropriated member’s deficit in the current year. In 2013, 
the Association’s Council approved the use of $30,000 from the program reserve for the 
publication of a history book. During the year, $3,575 was transferred to unappropriated 
members’ equity.

 Contributed services
   Volunteers contribute time each year to ensure certain programs are delivered. Because 

of the difficulty of compiling these hours and the fact that these services are not otherwise 
purchased, contributed services are not recognized in the financial statements.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

 October 31 October 31 November 1
 2013 2012 2011
  (Unaudited - (Unaudited - 
  Note 2) Note 2) 
 Accrued interest $ 24,744 $ 17,201 $ 10,057 
 Goods and services tax  15,082  8,930  20,548 
  Other receivables, including dues, 

 net of allowances of $27,327 
 (2012 - nil; 2011 - nil)  277,407  221,927  153,865 

   $ 317,233 $ 248,058 $ 184,470
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5. INVESTMENTS
  Fair value 
 October 31 October 31 November 1
 2013 2012 2011
  (unaudited - (unaudited -
  Note 2) Note 2)

  $99,000, 4.4% Province of Ontario 
 Note due December 2, 2011 $ - $ - $ 101,064 

  $200,000, 2.05% Bank of Nova Scotia 
 Guaranteed Investment Certificates due  
 October 31, 2012  -  -  200,202 

  $188,000, 4.75% Province of Ontario  
 Note due June 2, 2013  -  195,607  202,209 

  $139,000, 4.9% Canada Mortgage and  
 Housing Corporation due  
 December 1, 2013  142,223  147,477  152,503 

  $81,000, 5% Province of Ontario series 
 non-callable due March 8, 2014  82,688  85,685  88,432 

  $200,000, 2.35% Bank of Nova Scotia 
 Guaranteed Investment Certificates due 
 June 30, 2014  211,170  206,322  201,584 

  $227,000, 1.75% BMO Advisors Advantage 
 Guaranteed Investment Certificates due 
 September 15, 2014  235,540  231,489  227,501 

  $25,000, 3.3% Alberta Capital Bonds due 
 March 15, 2015  25,520  25,520  25,520 

  $300,000, 2.5% BMO Advisors Advantage 
 Guaranteed Investment Certificates due 
 October 28, 2015  300,062  300,063  300,062 

  $100,000, 2.68% Bank of Canada  
 Guaranteed Investment Certificates 
 due December 9, 2016  102,394  102,402  -
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  $100,000, 2.45% Natcan Trust Company  
 due March 8, 2018  101,591  -  -

  $100,000, 2.45% National Bank of Canada  
 due March 8, 2018  101,591  -  -

    1,302,779  1,294,565  1,499,077 
 Investments due within one year  671,622  195,607  301,266 

   $ 631,157 $ 1,098,958 $ 1,197,811 

6. CAPITAL ASSETS

 October 31 November 1
  October 31, 2013 2012 2011
 Accumulated Net Book Net Book Net Book
 Rates Cost Depreciation Value Value Value
       (unaudited - Note 2)
 Furniture and 
   fixtures 20% DB $ 124,351 $ 70,595 $ 53,756 $  80,874 $ 43,793 
 Computer 
   hardware 3 years S-L  19,655  18,042  1,613  9,936  14,878
 Computer 
   software 100% DB  12,757  12,757  -  -  643 
 Leasehold 
   improvements 5 years S-L  980  980  -  -  -      
  $ 157,743 $ 102,374 $ 55,369 $ 90,810 $ 59,314 

7. INTANGIBLE ASSET

  October 31 October 31 November 1
  2013 2012 2011
 Accumulated Net Book Net Book Net Book 
  Rates  Cost  Depreciation Value Value Value
      (unaudited - Note 2)

 Website 5 years S-L $ 67,551 $ 54,410 $  13,141 $ 5,312 $ 14,012
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8. DEFERRED REVENUE
   Deferred revenue consists of funds received that are restricted for specific purposes or 

relate to future periods, as follows:

 October 31 October 31 November 1
 2013 2012  2011
  (Unaudited -  (Unaudited -
  Note 2)  Note 2)

 Veterinarian registration $ 273,820 $ 257,012 $ 240,242
 Practice inspection renewals  69,859  67,384  60,066
 Radiation Protection Program  31,578  30,217  27,966
 AHT registration  27,934  26,563  -
 Practice manual for shelters and rescues  -  23,082  -
 Permit to practice  9,132  8,852  -
 Foreign qualification recognition  7,884  7,884  85,804
 John Waters Workshop  6,340  6,340  9,494
 Alberta Surveillance Program  3,348  3,348   -
 Euthanasia Program  -  51,538  120,062
 Biosecurity  -  7,833  49,233
 AFAC Conference fees  -  1,022  -
 Biosecurity Awareness Initiative  -  -   34,234
 Biosecurity Standards Guide   -  -   10,210

   $ 429,895 $ 491,075 $ 637,311 

9. CANWEST VETERINARY CONFERENCE
   The CanWest Veterinary Conference (the “Conference”) is hosted by the Association. 

In 2013, revenues of $492,820 (2012- $399,028) and expenses of $429,497 (2012- 
$394,816) related to the Conference were recorded. 

   Additional expenses of nil (2012 - $24,485) were incurred and reimbursed through 
eligible funding.
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10. COMMITMENTS
   The Association is committed to aggregate minimum annual rentals in the next five years 

for office premises and equipment rental as follows:

 2014 $ 223,782
 2015  157,320
 2016  157,320
 2017  157,320
 2018  157,320

  $ 853,062

   The Association has committed to annually contribute $3,000 to the Students of the 
Canadian Veterinary Medical Association Symposium to support a student member of the 
Association.

11. BUDGET
  The Council approved this budget on October 31, 2012. 

12. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
   The Association defines capital as the sum of unappropriated members’ deficit, internally 

restricted reserves: operating, program and professional wellness, and investment in 
capital and intangible assets. The Association is not subject to external restrictions. Internal 
restrictions are disclosed in Note 2.

   Policies have been established to preserve the financial condition of the Association and 
financial reports are reviewed regularly by management and the Council members.

   There have been no changes to the capital management objectives, policies and procedures 
since the preceding year.
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
   The Association is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following 

analysis presents the Association’s exposures to significant risk at the reporting date, 
October 31, 2013.

  Credit risk
     Credit risk arises from the potential that a counterparty will fail to perform its obligations. 

The Association is exposed to credit risk through the many sources of revenue which is 
mitigated by the large number of members and other customers. Bad debt expense for 
the year was $30,027 (2012 - nil).

  Market price and interest rate risk
     The Association is exposed to fluctuations in the market prices of its investments. This 

risk is managed by the Association’s investment policies which prescribe limitations 
regarding the type of investments. In addition, the Association is exposed to interest rate 
risk with respect to the amount of interest earned on term deposits. 

14. ALBERTA PET ESSENTIAL TREATMENT FOUNDATION
   The Alberta Pet Essential Treatment Foundation was incorporated on March 25, 2013, as 

a charitable foundation aiming to provide funding for veterinary treatment and education 
to individuals of low income or with qualified financial need. The Association holds 100 
of the 300 shares in issue.
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Year ended October 31, 2013
 2013
 Practice
 Foreign Biosecurity Biosecurity Radiation John Alberta Manual for
 Qualification Standards Awareness Protection Waters Euthanasia Surveillance Shelters and
 CanWest Recognition Guide Initiative Biosecurity Program Workshop Program Program Rescues Total

 Opening deferred revenue $ - $ 7,884 $ - $ - $ 7,833 $ 30,217 $ 6,340 $ 51,538 $ 3,348 $ 23,082 $ 130,242 
  Add: Program funding  

 received  492,820  -  -  -  21,165  30,992  -  4,328  21,360  -  570,665 
 Less: Revenue recognized  492,820  -  -  -  28,998  29,631  -  55,866  21,360  23,082  651,757 

 Ending deferred revenue $ - $ 7,884 $ - $ - $ - $ 31,578 $ 6,340 $ - $ 3,348 $ - $ 49,150 

 Expenses $ 429,497 $ - $ - $ - $ 28,998 $ 29,631 $ - $ 61,768 $ 21,360 $ 23,082 $ 594,336 

 2012 (unaudited - Note 2)
 Practice
 Foreign Biosecurity Biosecurity Radiation John Alberta Manual for
 Qualification Standards Awareness Protection Waters Euthanasia Surveillance Shelters and
 CanWest Recognition Guide Initiative Biosecurity Program Workshop Program Program Rescues Total

 Opening deferred revenue $ - $ 85,804 $ 10,210 $ 34,234 $ 49,233 $ 27,966 $ 9,494 $ 120,062 $ - $ - $ 337,003 
 Add: Program funding  
  received  399,028  -  -  -  56,700  44,237  6,400  -  23,808  24,600  554,773 
 Less: Revenue recognized  399,028  77,920  10,210  34,234  98,100  41,986  9,554  68,524  20,460  1,518  761,534 

 Ending deferred revenue $ - $ 7,884 $ -  $ - $ 7,833 $ 30,217 $ 6,340 $ 51,538 $ 3,348 $ 23,082 $ 130,242 

 Expenses  $ 394,816 $ 77,920 $ 10,210 $ 34,234 $ 98,100 $ 41,986 $ 9,554 $ 68,524 $ 20,460 $ 1,518 $ 757,322 

SCHEDULE OF RESTRICTED PROGRAM ACTIVITY
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Year ended October 31, 2013
 2013
 Practice
 Foreign Biosecurity Biosecurity Radiation John Alberta Manual for
 Qualification Standards Awareness Protection Waters Euthanasia Surveillance Shelters and
 CanWest Recognition Guide Initiative Biosecurity Program Workshop Program Program Rescues Total

 Opening deferred revenue $ - $ 7,884 $ - $ - $ 7,833 $ 30,217 $ 6,340 $ 51,538 $ 3,348 $ 23,082 $ 130,242 
  Add: Program funding  

 received  492,820  -  -  -  21,165  30,992  -  4,328  21,360  -  570,665 
 Less: Revenue recognized  492,820  -  -  -  28,998  29,631  -  55,866  21,360  23,082  651,757 

 Ending deferred revenue $ - $ 7,884 $ - $ - $ - $ 31,578 $ 6,340 $ - $ 3,348 $ - $ 49,150 

 Expenses $ 429,497 $ - $ - $ - $ 28,998 $ 29,631 $ - $ 61,768 $ 21,360 $ 23,082 $ 594,336 

 2012 (unaudited - Note 2)
 Practice
 Foreign Biosecurity Biosecurity Radiation John Alberta Manual for
 Qualification Standards Awareness Protection Waters Euthanasia Surveillance Shelters and
 CanWest Recognition Guide Initiative Biosecurity Program Workshop Program Program Rescues Total

 Opening deferred revenue $ - $ 85,804 $ 10,210 $ 34,234 $ 49,233 $ 27,966 $ 9,494 $ 120,062 $ - $ - $ 337,003 
 Add: Program funding  
  received  399,028  -  -  -  56,700  44,237  6,400  -  23,808  24,600  554,773 
 Less: Revenue recognized  399,028  77,920  10,210  34,234  98,100  41,986  9,554  68,524  20,460  1,518  761,534 

 Ending deferred revenue $ - $ 7,884 $ -  $ - $ 7,833 $ 30,217 $ 6,340 $ 51,538 $ 3,348 $ 23,082 $ 130,242 

 Expenses  $ 394,816 $ 77,920 $ 10,210 $ 34,234 $ 98,100 $ 41,986 $ 9,554 $ 68,524 $ 20,460 $ 1,518 $ 757,322 
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Management:

Dr. Darrell Dalton, Registrar / Secretary-Treasurer
darrell.dalton@abvma.ca

Dr. Duane Landals, Senior Advisor
duane.landals@abvma.ca

Dr. Phil Buote, Deputy Registrar / Complaints Director
phil.buote@abvma.ca

Mrs. Midge Landals, Manager Communications and Professional Enhancement
midge.landals@abvma.ca

Support:

Ms. Lisa Barry, Administrative Assistant
lisa.barry@abvma.ca

Mrs. Brenda Betnar, Receptionist / Administrative Assistant
brenda.betnar@abvma.ca

Mrs. Christin Grayson, Administrative Assistant – Communications
Christin.galenza@abvma.ca

Mrs. Margaret Massey, Administrator – Member Registration
margaret.massey@abvma.ca

Ms. Janeen, McPhee, Administrator – PIPS & Radiation Programs
janeen.mcphee@abvma.ca

Ms. Kathy Mosmann, Executive Assistant – Professional Enhancement
kathy.mosmann@abvma.ca

2013 ABVMA STAFF
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Ms. Andrea Edwards, RAHT
Alberta Association of Animal Health Technologists

Dr. Alastair Cribb
University of Calgary, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine

Dr. Gerald Hauer
Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development

Dr. Christa Coetser
Canadian Food Inspection Agency

Dr. Troy Bourque
Canadian Veterinary Medical Association

Dr. Douglas Freeman
Western College of Veterinary Medicine

2013 EX-OFFICIO MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
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Hearing Tribunal
 Dr. Danny Joffe
 Dr. Jim Lawrence
 Dr. Lloyd Keddie
 Dr. Calvin Booker
 Dr. Brent Jackson
 Dr. Dan Schlesinger
 Dr. Carol Poland
 Dr. Tim Keogan
 Dr. Sylvia Checkley
 Dr. Bob Ruckman
 Dr Brian McBride
 Dr. Troy Bourque
 Dr. Robert Jones
 Dr. Dave Harris
 Dr. Annabelle Denson
 Dr. Ken Hubbard
Hearings Director Dr. Nick Nation
Public Member Mr. John DeJong
Public Member Mr. Dwayne Rawson
Public Member Mr. David Graham
Ex-Officio, AHT Ms  Stacey Buium
Ex-Officio, AHT Mrs. Cindy Beecher

Complaint Review 
Chair Dr. Randy Killeen
Vice-Chair Dr. Suzanne Misiaszek
 Dr. Jocelyn Fredlund
 Dr. Stephen Chandler
 Dr. Pat Burrage
 Dr. Shawn Mattson
Public Member Mrs. Deborah Bresee
Public Member Mrs. Leanne Binetruy
Ex-Officio, AHT Mrs. Alahna Hunter
Ex-Officio, AHT Ms Jodene Sekura

Practice Inspection Practice Standards
Chair Dr. Colleen Pratt
Vice Chair Dr. Ian Giebelhaus
 Dr. Kate Kewish
 Dr. Christina Jones
 Dr. Nick Nation

 Dr. Roxy Bell
 Dr. Darlene Donszelmann
 Dr. Agnes Baer
 Dr. Chris Belan
 Dr. Nancy Bruyere
 Dr. Peter Claffey
 Dr. Deb Muirhead
 Dr. Jenifer Parks
 Dr. Jen Willans
Ex-Officio, AHT Ms Smokey Walters
Ex-Officio, AHT Ms Tracey Ruzicka

Practice Review Board
Chair Dr. Ross Foulston
Vice Chair Dr. Dianna Smith
 Dr. Grady Barton
 Dr. Rodney Gale
 Dr. Jarrett Ferrier
 Dr. Jagdeesh Tuli
 Dr. Jennifer Scott
 Dr. Cary Hashizume
Public Member Mrs. Donna von Hauff
Ex-Officio, AHT Ms Andrea Edwards
Ex-Officio, AHT Ms Maryon Siemens 

Registration
Chair Dr. Dave Tencer
Vice Chair Dr. Lisa Lomsnes
 Dr. Jacob Adserballe
 Dr. Margitta Dziwenka
 Dr. Balbir Gidda
 Dr. Gordon Strick
 Dr. Katie Van Sluys
Ex-Officio, AHT Ms Becky Taylor
Ex-Officio, AHT Ms Karen Lesnick

2013 LEGISLATED STANDING COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL
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2013 ABVMA PROFESSIONAL ENHANCEMENT
LEADERSHIP TEAM

2013 ADVISORY GROUPS

Wildlife & Ecosystem Health Advisory Committee
Chair Dr. Amanda Emery
Vice Chair Ms. Brigitta Smith RAHT
 Dr. James Marshall
 Dr. Milton Ness
 Dr. Doug Whiteside
 Dr. Susan Cork
 Isabelle L’Hebreux, RAHT

Animal Welfare Advisory Committee
Chair Dr. Kirsten Aarbo
Vice Chair Dr. Kent Fenton
 Dr. Louis Kwantes
 Dr. Nigel Caulkett
 Dr. Ernie Miciak
 Dr. Robert Coppock
 Dr. Sherif Boctor
 Dr. Katherine Kimmel
 Dr. Kim Robinson
 Dr. Rohit Chhabra
 Brianne Bellwood, RAHT
  Heather Bundschuh,  RAHT

Companion Animal Advisory Committee
Chair Dr. Leslie Anne Smith
Vice Chair Erin Conly, RAHT
 Dr. G. Neal Mauldin          
 Dr. Catherine Dick             
 Dr. Pradeep Budihal
 Dr. Jennifer McCracken      
 Dr. Mark Rubensohn
 Dr. David Littlejohn
 Dr. Kevin MacAulay
 Sarah Begin, RAHT

Equine Advisory Committee
Chair Dr. Juan Garcia 
Vice Chair Dr. Brian Heide
 Dr. Chris Berezowski
 Dr. Deb Harrison-Steele
 Dr. Emma Read
 Dr. Caroline Heffernan
 Val Beauliua, RAHT
 Roberta Rouse, RAHT

Food Animal Advisory Committee
Chair Dr. Egan Brockhoff
Vice Chair Darcie Steffler, RAHT
 Dr. Brian Edge
 Dr. Dawn Magrath
 Dr. Alan Bergen
  Dr. Anne-Marie Malard-Russ
 Dr. Colleen Christianson
 Dr. Todd Griffiths
 Dr. Mike Rhodes
 Dr. Tye Perrett
 Dr. Simon Otto
 Naomi Kristiansen RAHT

Human Resources Development Advisory Committee
Chair Dr. Lucas  Yuricek
Vice Chair Ms. Lucille Landals, RAHT
 Dr. David Hall
 Dr. Jeff Person
 Dr. Bob Ruckman
 Dr. Bonnie Buntain
 Dr. Robert Wagner
 Dr. Jocelyn Forseille

Historical Advisory Group
 Dr. Duane Landals
 Dr. Donald MacDonald
 Dr. Nick Nation
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A YEAR AT A GLANCE
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Edmonton, AB  T6H 5P9
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Toll-Free: 1-800-404-2862
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